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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Kinetic Mines and Energy Ltd., I am pleased to present the annual 
results of the Company, together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2016.

In 2016, the global economy continued its gradual path in structural adjustment under a weak recovery and 
intensified uncertainties. However, supply-side structural reforms continued to offer China’s economic development a 
number of opportunities. Based on China’s ‘new normal’ for economic growth, supply-side structural reforms have 
been expedited. During the past year, China’s GDP increased 6.7% year-on-year, reaching RMB 74.4 trillion, which 
was within a reasonable range and expected targets were met. The national economy has been stable overall, with 
progress and enhancement attained.

With the steel and coal sectors being the first to curb excess capacity, significant milestones were achieved in 2016. At 
the same time, under the expediting curbing measures over excess capacity, the operating conditions in steel and coal 
industries as a whole continued to improve, showing the effectiveness of government measures. Upon which, the 
severe imbalance between supply and demand in coal markets of China was alleviated. In August 2016, the coal 
market began to turn around its fortunes with prices for coal surging dramatically. According to statistics released on 
www.cqcoal.com, the monthly average price of Bohai-rim 5,000 kcal steam coal rebounded significantly from 
RMB354 per tonne (inclusive of value-added tax) in June of 2016 to RMB545 per tonne (inclusive of value-added tax) 
in December of 2016.

With the continued elimination of inefficient capacity and a stronger crackdown on illegal mining, an inevitable 
continuous reduction in China’s total coal capacity will emerge in the coming years. The eliminated capacity will be 
replaced by new structural capacities and the supply-side will remain under constraints, shaping a positive landscape 
for the industry.

Over the years, the Group has endeavored to develop its capabilities in coal mining, processing, transporting and 
trading. Following the commencement of the Xiaojia Station and its associated rail spur lines as well as the full 
operations at the Dafanpu Coal Mine, the Group’s businesses are on track towards sustainable development.

Due to the loss of production time as a result of this changing of coal mining surfaces as well as controls imposed by 
PRC Government on coal production during the first half of 2016, the Group sold 2.72 million tonnes of commercial 
coal for the year ended 31 December 2016, down 28.8% as compared to the same period of 2015. However, the 
Group not only strived to achieve the sales target set at the beginning of the year, but always maintained highly 
mechanized operations with production costs per tonne at the lowest industry level. This enabled the consolidated 
gross profit margin of the Group to reach 28.6% in 2016. Thanks to these efforts and the obvious coal market 
recovery during the second half of the year, the Group made a record high profit and turnaround with a remarkable 
result for the whole year.

Accordingly, the Group recorded a turnover of RMB1,051.5 million and a consolidated net profit of RMB138.1 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2016, compared with a consolidated loss of RMB2.1 million for the previous year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

With the initial success in coal output curbs and the strenuous efforts of the PRC Government to promote supply-side 
structural reforms, which strengthened the efforts in resolving excess capacity in the coal industry, the industry is back 
on track while coal prices increase gradually. In this context, the Group can achieve healthy and balanced growth of 
the business, while the Group will take the initiative to identify new acquisition targets, in order to tap the enormous 
development potential under ‘new normal’ in China.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our 
shareholders and business partners for their continuous support to the Group, and our committed senior management 
team and employees for their hard work.

Zhang Li
Chairman and Executive Director

28 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key Financial and Operational Performance Indicators
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2016 monthly average price of 5,000 Kcal thermal coal at the Bohai Rim:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MARKET REVIEW

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, China achieved a gross domestic product (“GDP”) 
aggregating RMB74.4 trillion in 2016, up 6.7% from 2015 in comparable terms. By quarters, the first quarter 
recorded a year-on-year increase of 6.7%, with a rise of 6.7% in the second quarter, followed by an increase of 6.7% 
in the third quarter and 6.8% in the fourth quarter. In 2016, the country’s fixed asset investment amounted to 
RMB59.7 trillion, representing a nominal rise of 8.1% over the previous year (or an actual growth of 8.8% excluding 
price factors). In 2016, the supply-side structural reforms advanced in a gradual and orderly manner, with initial 
success in the main task of “overcapacity elimination, destocking, deleveraging, lowering costs and improving weak 
links”. The employment situation and price levels for the whole year generally remained stable.

In 2016, the raw coal production volume of Chinese coal enterprises amounted to 3.41 billion tonnes, down 9.0% 
from the corresponding period last year. On the pricing front, the China Coal Price Index (CCPI) was up 44.2 points 
from the beginning of the year to reach 160 points at the end of 2016, representing an increase of 38.1%.

China imported a total of 256 million tonnes of coal in 2016, up 25.2% from the corresponding period last year while 
China exported 8.78 million tonnes of coal, up 64.5% from the corresponding period last year. In 2016, 1.9 billion 
tonnes of coal was transported by rail in China, down 4.7% year-on-year. Coal transported via major ports generally 
remained flat year-on-year at 644 million tonnes.

In 2016, a decline in China’s surplus coal inventories was recorded after four consecutive years of growth. By the end 
of the year, 93 million tonnes of coal was stored at major coal enterprises, down by 34.99 million tonnes or 27.3% 
from the beginning of the year, while 65.46 million tonnes of coal was stored at major power generation enterprises, 
down by 8.12 million tonnes or 11% as compared with the beginning of last year, which was equal to 16 days of 
power supply.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, fixed asset investment for coal mining and coal washing in 
China amounted to RMB303.8 billion, down 24.2% year-on-year. Amongst the private sector, fixed asset investments 
in coal mining and coal washing amounted to RMB186.4 billion, down 18.3% year-on-year.

In 2016, the economic situation of the coal industry was characterized by the following circumstances: (i) the demand 
in coal continued to fall while the energy consumption pattern underwent staged transformation. With two 
consecutive years of decline in coal consumption, China continued to record a year-on-year decrease of 1.3% in coal 
consumption in 2016. Major industries such as electricity and steel still experienced a year-on-year decline in coal 
consumption; (ii) a remarkable result was achieved in shedding excessive capacity with the coal price returning to 
reasonable levels; (iii) reduction in coal production coupled with occasional factors together fueled a rapid surge of 
prices in short-term, yet market volatility was expected. At the same time, the PRC government intensified efforts in 
curbing non-compliant and illegal construction, production and excess capacity, raising the quality standard for 
commercial coal, implementing production reduction measures and eliminating certain coal mines with unfavourable 
mining conditions and high costs from market so as to maintain a continuous reduction in coal production. In 
addition, the scorching summer in 2016 significantly bolstered the country’s power consumption and led to a 
noticeable increase in power and coal consumption while coal production and transportation were impacted in some 
flood-stricken areas. Meanwhile, the governance over overloaded transportation on motorway and adjustment on rail 
transportation costs resulted in a surge in coal transportation costs. Changes in the international coal market led to a 
drastic increase in coal price. All of the aforementioned factors conspired to tighten market supply with an expected 
hike in prices and propelled a quick and staged rebound in coal prices after July.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overall, changes in the coal market in 2016 were attributable to multiple factors, including the direct consequences of 
strengthened efforts from the PRC government to deepen supply-side structural reforms of coal as well as policies on 
overcapacity elimination, destocking and lowering cost, and also the interim changes in energy structure, reduction in 
hydraulic power and massive increase in thermal power. However, it should be noted that the coal industry started 
operating steadily and coal enterprises gradually overcame operating difficulties. The solid foundation for smooth 
operation of the coal economy is yet to be established.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MAIN BUSINESS STRATEGIES

As one of the few fully﹣integrated coal enterprises with mining, processing, rail transportation, port warehousing and 
trading capabilities, the Group focuses on the development of its Dafanpu Coal Mine situated at Zhunge’er Banner, 
Erdos City, Inner Mongolia, China. The Xiaojia loading station and its associated rail spur lines, in which the Group 
holds 45% interest, has an average handling capacity of approximately 5,000 tonnes per hour. It transports the coal 
products produced at the Dafanpu Coal Mine and those procured from other third-party coal mine operators via the 
Nanping Rail Line and the Datong-Qinhuangdao Rail Line to Qinhuangdao.

For the first half year of 2016, the Group’s production and sales volume decreased significantly mainly due to the loss 
of production time as a result of changing of coal mining surfaces as well as policy controls imposed by the PRC 
Government on coal production. The Group only sold a total of approximately 1.03 million tonnes of coal products 
and recorded revenue of RMB298.1 million for the six months ended 30 June 2016.

However, the Group adhered to the plan set at the beginning of the year and achieved in the production and sales of 
approximately 1.69 million tonnes of coal products in the second half of year of 2016. In addition, there was a strong 
recovery in the coal market during the second half of 2016 and the Group’s average selling price of coal products per 
tonne substantially increased from RMB313 at the end of June 2016 to RMB503 at the end of December 2016. Thus, 
the gross profit margin increased from 10.9% for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 28.6% for the year ended 31 
December 2016.

As a result of the foregoing, the Group sold a total of approximately 2.72 million tonnes of coal products and 
recorded revenue of RMB1,051.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, representing a decline of 10.6% as 
compared with the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015. The Group recorded a consolidated net profit of 
RMB138.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 compared with a consolidated net loss of RMB2.1 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2015.

In 2016, the Group not only strengthened the production cost efficiency of the Dafanpu Coal Mine but also 
implemented a number of initiatives to keep abreast of the coal market in order to achieve in obtaining higher price 
for its coal products. It included: (1) establishment of a sales committee to forecast the trend of coal market by 
collecting and analyzing information and policy from local government; (2) regular and close communication with the 
end-customers and market participants to acquire more market information; and (3) updating and analysing indexes 
including but not limited to the Bohai-rim Steam-Coal Price Index (BSPI), the Commodity Channel Index (CCI), and 
PLATTS, etc., to maximize the profit of each transaction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, Impact and Corresponding 
Measures

Risk arising from our mining operations which are currently concentrated at one mining site

Our operations are currently focused on the Dafanpu Coal Mine and most of our operating cash flows and sales are 
derived from the sale of coal produced from this single deposit. Any significant operational or other difficulties in the 
mining, processing, storing or transporting of coal at or from the Dafanpu Coal Mine could reduce, disrupt or halt our 
coal production, which would materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results 
of operations. Our operations including mining, processing, storing, rail transportation and coal trading have been 
running smoothly since the commencement of commercial production in 2013. Besides, we always focus on the 
production safety of the Dafanpu Coal Mine and it is expected that the operations would become even more stable 
with increased operating experience in the future.

Risks arising from coal price volatility

Affected by structural adjustments affecting this sector, centralised allocation of production capacity, ongoing and 
severe oversupply and sluggish downstream demand, downward pressure on our product price remains substantial. It 
has become increasingly difficult to generate profits from operations and the operating pressure has unprecedentedly 
increased. In view of all these risks, the Group will take various measures to achieve stable sales volumes and ensure 
profits by reducing costs and exploring potential internally, expanding markets and improving efficiency externally, 
profoundly optimizing market layout, expanding market space, flexibly implementing marketing strategy and product 
mix optimization.

In addition, we strive to maintain high quality of the coal product and had built up a brand “Kinetic 2” (力量2) for our 
coal product, which was one of the factors to calculate the indexes in Qinhuangdao Port. The Group can obtain a 
premium price for sales of coal product. The popularity of the Group’s coal product also help minimizing the risk of 
coal price volatility.

Risks arising from production safety

The principal business of the Group is high risk in nature with many uncertainties affecting safe production, resulting 
in a higher risk of production safety. The Group believes that safety should be a top priority while precaution is crucial, 
underpinning the safety monitoring system with “scientific management, sophisticated organization and practical 
measures” to strengthen risk management, and to conduct safety accountability assessment in a stringent manner to 
ensure the production with high operating efficiency and safety. In 2016, the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine realized 
zero casualty or fatality rate. Details of work minimizing the risk in respect of production safety can be found in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 21 to 39 of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Exploration, Development and Mining Production Activities

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine produced a total of 2.80 million tonnes of 
commercial coal. The estimated coal resources and reserves with no material change of assumptions as compared 
with previously disclosed estimates, substantiated by the internal experts were as follows:

Coal Resources as of December 2016

Coal Seam Measured Indicated Inferred Total
(Million tonnes) (Million tonnes) (Million tonnes) (Million tonnes)

     

5 9.7 23.7 1.3 34.7
6Upper 10.4 13.7 11.6 35.7
6 (6L1+6L2) 108.3 201.7 28.1 338.1
8 0.0 0.0 6.9 6.9
9 0.0 8.7 8.7 17.4
     

Total 128.4 247.8 56.6 432.8
     

Coal Reserves as of December 2016

Coal Seam
Proven Coal

Reserves
Probable Coal

Reserves
Total Coal

Reserves
(Mt) (Mt) (Mt)

    

5 5.2 10.7 15.9
6Upper 6.7 9.4 16.1
6 (6L1+6L2) 38.1 113.8 151.9
    

Total 50.0 133.9 183.9
    

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered into a number of contracts in relation to the purchase 
of machinery and equipment and maintenance and/or construction of coal shaft and conveyor system of the Dafanpu 
Coal Mine. As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s outstanding commitments amounted to approximately RMB65.5 
million.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately RMB58.6 million for 
the development and mining production activities of the Dafanpu Coal Mine. The capital expenditures were mainly 
related to the purchase of machinery and equipment and maintenance and/or construction of coal shafts and the 
conveyor system of the Dafanpu Coal Mine.

The Group did not conduct any exploration activities and did not incur any expense or capital expenditure in 
exploration activities during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The breakdown of the Group’s expenses in relation to its mining activities for the year ended 31 December 2016 is 
summarised as follows:

For the 
year ended

31 December 
2016

RMB’000
  

Cost items

Mining costs 158,878
Processing costs 53,765
Government surcharges 49,433
Transportation costs 488,266
  

Cost of sales 750,342
Finance costs 60,355
  

Total 810,697
  

PROSPECTS

The National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC stated that there will be a further push for 
overcapacity elimination in the steel and coal industries. It would tackle a steel overcapacity of approximately 50 
million tonnes and coal overcapacity of over 150 million tonnes in 2017.

As at 31 December 2016, the National Development and Reform Commission and the National Energy Administration 
of the PRC jointly published “The 13th Five-Year Plan for the Development of Coal Industry”, which proposed the 
primary objectives of eliminating excess and obsolete coal production capacities by around 800 million tonnes per 
year, optimizing coal production structures and maintaining the number of coal mines at about 6,000, in order to 
build a modernized coal industrial system characterized by intensive infrastructures, safety, high efficiency and green 
elements by the year of 2020.

With the continuous elimination of excessive production capacity and more stringent controls on non-compliant coal 
mines, China will undoubtedly record an ongoing reduction in its overall coal production output in the coming years. 
Eliminated production capacity will be replaced by new structural production capacity while the supply-side reform 
will be maintained; yet the industry is advancing towards a balanced trend.

In conclusion, China will undoubtedly record an ongoing reduction in its overall coal production output in the coming 
years. The dominant enterprises implementing effective and environmentally-friendly policies will continue to be 
provided with opportunities. The Group will continue to benefit from the supply-side reform of China. The coal 
production and sales, as well as the trading business in Qinhuangdao of the Group in 2017 are expected to develop 
at a steady pace.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Revenue 1,051,457 1,176,041
Cost of sales (750,342) (1,047,584)
   

Gross profit 301,115 128,457

Other income 16,157 3,519
Selling expenses (5,710) (6,375)
Administrative expenses (63,513) (62,326)
   

Profit from operations 248,049 63,275

Share of profits of an associate 5,394 14,158
Finance costs (60,355) (79,989)
   

Profit/(loss)  before taxation 193,088 (2,556)

Income tax (expense)/credit (54,982) 454
   

Profit/(loss) for the year 138,106 (2,102)
Attributable to owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income for the year that
  may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of
  operations outside Mainland China 333 855
   

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 138,439 (1,247)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased from RMB1,176.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB1,051.5 
million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The decrease in the Group’s revenue was mainly attributable to the increase in the selling price of the coal product 
per tonne of the Group and the decrease in sales volume from 3.82 million tonnes for the year ended 31 December 
2015 to 2.72 million tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2016. The Group’s average selling price of coal product 
per tonne significantly increased from RMB308 for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB387 for the year ended 
31 December 2016.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group incurred cost of sales of RMB750.3 million. Cost of sales mainly 
comprises salaries of coal mine workers, costs of supplementary materials, fuel and electricity, depreciation, 
amortisation, surcharges of mining operations and transportation costs. The decrease in the Group’s cost of sales was 
largely in line with the decrease in sales volume and revenue at ports.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recorded gross profit of RMB301.1 million and gross profit 
margin of 28.6% as compared to the gross profit of RMB128.5 million and gross profit margin of 10.9% for the year 
ended 31 December 2015.

The increase in gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2016 is mainly due to the increase in the average 
selling price per tonne of coal products at ports, net of tax, from RMB308 in 2015 to RMB387 in 2016.

Other Income

Other income of the Group increased from RMB3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB16.2 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group’s other income comprised government grants, gain on 
disposal of property, plant and equipment and interest income.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses of the Group decreased from RMB6.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB5.7 
million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The selling expenses mainly comprised salaries of sales staff and 
marketing related expenses.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses slightly increased from RMB62.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 
to RMB63.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The administrative expenses mainly comprised salaries and 
related personnel expenses of the administrative, finance and human resources departments, consultancy fees and 
other incidental administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased from RMB80.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB60.4 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2016. The decrease in the Group’s finance costs was mainly attributable to the 
repayments of bank loans and other borrowings amounting to RMB145.4 million and the decrease in average interest 
rate of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings.

Income Tax

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, neither the Company nor its BVI subsidiary is subject to tax 
on its income or capital gains. Moreover, no provision has been made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group did not 
generate any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate income tax of 25% for the year ended 31 December 
2016. The effective tax rate of the Group was 28.5% for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 17.8%). 

Profit/(Loss) for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a consolidated net profit of RMB138.1 million for the year ended 31 
December 2016 and a consolidated loss of RMB2.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

In addition, on 28 March 2017, the Board of Directors proposed a special dividend of HK$0.02 per share out of the 
share premium account of the Company, payable to shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the 
register of members of the Company on 18 May 2017. The total amount of the special dividend amounting to an 
aggregate amount of HK$168,600,000, will be paid in cash on 29 May 2017. The proposal for the distribution of 
special dividend from the share premium account is subject to the approval at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16 May 2017 to Thursday, 18 May 2017 (both 
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered for the purpose of determining 
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed special dividend. To qualify for the special dividend, all share transfer 
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch 
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 15 May 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Net cash generated from operating activities 264,448 206,903
Net cash used in investing activities (65,687) (84,322)
Net cash used in financing activities (205,363) (75,071)
   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,602) 47,510

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 92,011 43,646

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 333 855
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 85,742 92,011
   

Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities

The Group’s net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB264.4 
million, primarily due to profit before taxation of RMB193.1 million, adjusted for interest expenses on bank loans and 
other borrowings of RMB60.4 million, depreciation of RMB116.3 million, increase in inventories of RMB18.7 million, 
increase in trade and other receivables of RMB1.1 million and decrease in trade and other payables of RMB73.7 
million.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

The Group’s net cash used in investing activities for the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB65.7 million, primarily 
due to the purchase of items of property, plant and equipment of RMB57.4 million and the payment for land lease of 
RMB8.7 million.

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities

The Group’s net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB205.4 million, which 
was attributable to the net increase in the Group’s bank loans of RMB509.5 million, net decrease in the Group’s other 
borrowings of RMB654.9 million and interest payments of RMB60.0 million.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was RMB85.7 million, as compared with 
RMB92.0 million at the end of 2015. This is mainly attributable to the cash at bank and in hand decreased by RMB6.6 
million and the exchange gain of RMB0.3 million.
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and Financial Resources

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was mainly used in the development of 
the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine, to serve the Group’s indebtedness and to fund the Group’s working capital. The 
Group financed its funding requirements mainly through a combination of interest-bearing bank loans and other 
borrowings and cash generated from operating activities. The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from 55.7% as at 31 
December 2015 to 48.4% as at 31 December 2016. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net 
debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash at bank and in hand. Total capital is calculated as total equity plus net 
debt.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, amounting to RMB85.7 million, was denominated 
in RMB (90.7%) and Hong Kong dollars (9.3%).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings were as follows:

As at 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Bank loans repayable:
Within one year on demand 579,540 500,000
In the second year 429,993 –
   

1,009,533 500,000
Other borrowings repayable:
Within one year – 654,918
   

1,009,533 1,154,918
   

Notes:

(a)	 Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i)	 the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to RMB20,000,000 (2015: nil);

(ii)	 the securities of Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited held by the Group; and

(iii)	 the mining rights of Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited.

In addition, the Company, Mr. Zhang Li and Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson have guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans up to 
RMB989,993,000 (2015: RMB500,000,000) as at the end of the reporting period.

(b)	 All the borrowings are denominated in RMB.

(c)	 Unsecured bank loans, bear interest at 4.4% per annum, are repaid in January 2017.

(d)	 As part of the Group’s normal business, Kinetic (Tianjin) Coal Co., Limited. and Kinetic (Qinhuangdao) Energy Co., Limited., two subsidiaries of 
the Group, issued bills payable to Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited, another subsidiary of the Group, in order to settle the trade 
payables. As at 31 December 2016, certain bills receivable of Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited were discounted to a bank in 
Mainland China (the “Discounted Bills”) with a carrying amount of RMB404,000,000 (2015: nil). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has 
retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include delay payment risks relating to the Discounted Bills, and accordingly, it continued to 
recognise the full carrying amount of the loans from Discounted Bills. The loans from Discounted Bills were guaranteed by the Company and 
Mr. Zhang Li.
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Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s management has adopted certain policies on financial risk management with the objective of: (i) ensuring 
that appropriate funding strategies are adopted to meet the Group’s short term and long term funding requirements 
taking into consideration the cost of funding, gearing ratios and cash flow projections of each individual project and 
of the Group; and (ii) ensuring that appropriate strategies are also adopted to minimise the related interest rate risk, 
foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.

(a)	 Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loans. Loans issued at variable rates expose the Group 
to cash flow interest rate risk and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate 
risk. The Group did not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the 
Group did not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its debt obligations. Therefore, a change in interest 
rates at the end of the reporting period would not materially affect profit or loss. The Board will continue to 
closely monitor the Group’s loan portfolio in order to manage the Group’s interest rate risk exposure.

(b)	 Foreign Currency Risk

The Company and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group are not exposed to significant foreign currency risk 
since their transactions and balances are principally denominated in their respective functional currencies. As the 
foreign currency risk is insignificant, the Group did not enter into any financial instruments to hedge against 
foreign currency risk for the year ended 31 December 2016.

(c)	 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Group utilises cash flow forecast and other relevant information to monitor its liquidity 
requirements and to ensure the Group has sufficient cash to support its business and operational activities.
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Capital Expenditures

The Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately RMB58.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, 
which were mainly related to the purchase of machinery and equipment and maintenance and/or construction of coal 
shafts and the conveyor system of the Dafanpu Coal Mine. These capital expenditures were fully financed by internal 
resources, bank loans and other borrowings.

Capital Commitments

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2016 amounted to approximately RMB65.5 million which were 
mainly related to the purchase of machinery and equipment and maintenance and/or construction of coal shafts and 
conveyor systems of the Dafanpu Coal Mine.

Operating Lease Commitments

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
amounted to approximately RMB0.8 million, with approximately RMB0.8 million due within one year and 
approximately RMB13,000 due after one year but within five years.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s mining rights with a carrying amount of RMB667.1 million was pledged to a 
bank to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2016.

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group had no significant investments, acquisitions and disposals. As 
the Group’s financial position and cash flow gradually improve, the Group can achieve healthy and balanced growth 
of the business, and will take the initiative to identify new acquisition targets in the foreseeable future.

Events after the end of the reporting period

On 28 March 2017, the Board of Directors proposed to pay a special dividend of HK$0.02 per share, payable to 
shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 18 May 2017. 
The total amount of the special dividend to be distributed amounting to an aggregate amount of HK$168,600,000, 
will be paid on 29 May 2017. The proposal for the distribution of special dividend from the share premium account is 
subject to the approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Financial Instruments

The Group did not have any hedging contracts or financial derivatives for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Operating Segment Information

The Group’s revenue and results for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were derived from the extraction 
and sales of coal products, which is considered as a single reportable segment in a manner consistent with the way in 
which information is reported internally to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for allocation of resources and 
performance assessment.

Moreover, as the Group’s revenue from the external customers and the majority of the Group’s assets are located in 
the PRC in both years, no geographical information is presented.

Human Resources and Emolument Policy

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of approximately 596 full-time employees in the Mainland China and 
Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the total staff costs, including the directors’ emoluments, 
amounted to RMB105.1 million.

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the performance and experience of individual employees 
and in line with the salary trends in the Mainland China and Hong Kong. Other employee benefits include 
performance-related bonuses, insurance and medical coverage and share options. Appropriate training programs are 
also provided to employees in order to ensure continuous staff training and development.

Remuneration Policy

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses 
related to the performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and 
reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or executing their functions in relation to the Group’s 
operations. The Group’s remuneration committee regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and 
compensation package of the Group’s Directors and senior management, by reference to, among other things, 
market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Directors and the 
performance of the Group.
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The Group’s vision has always been to become the leading private integrated coal supplier in China. The Group has 
made extensive efforts in building large-scale, high-grade coal base as well as conducting efficient and clean mining 
operations. We proactively improve the environmental, social and corporate governance works in our routine 
production operations and safeguard the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. While pursuing a steady 
development of our Company, we promote environmental improvement, foster social harmony and fulfill our 
corporate social responsibility.

1	 Responsible governance

1.1	 Integrity and compliance

Integrity, efficiency and pragmatism are the core philosophy underlying the Group’s business operations. 
Our good operating conditions is determined by a high degree of professionalism and corporate integrity, 
as well as a sound accountability mechanism.

We strive to eradicate all corrupt practices and adhere to the principle of equal emphasis on education, 
supervision, prevention and control. We regulate the anti-corruption mechanism in accordance with the 
Group’s internal “accountability approach”, aiming at strengthening the awareness in integrity of our 
staff, in order to establish an anti-corruption system framework and fulfill the supervisory responsibility. In 
2016, the Company had no litigation related to corruption.
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1.2	 Communication with stakeholders

We firmly believe that the growth of an outstanding enterprise heavily relies on the close relationship with 
stakeholders. The Group constantly enhances its stakeholder participation mechanism to promote 
operational transparency, and actively responds to stakeholders’ concerns and reasonable demands in 
order to make significant progress with stakeholders.

Stakeholders Concerns and expectations Communication and response
   

Government — Compliance with laws and regulations — Compliance management
— Taxes payment according to laws — Taking the initiative to pay taxes
— In support of economic development — Implementation of national policies

Investors — Returns and growth
— Profitability improvement
— Well-balanced operation
— Information disclosure

— Regular disclosure of business information
— General meetings
— Sustainable growth
— Guarantee of shareholder returns

Customers — High-quality products and services
— Fulfillment of customers’ changing needs
— Value creation for customers

— Open communication with customers
— Customer review

Staff — Protection of staff’s rights
— Healthy development channel
— Occupational safety and security
— Work-life balance

— Full and on-time payroll
— Contribution to pension scheme
— Establishment of occupational health 
    and safety management
— Career development path
— Staff training

Partners — Open, fair and just procurement
— Adherence to contracts
— Experience sharing

— Performing contractual obligations 
— Open tendering
— Development of project cooperation

Environment — Energy conservation and 
    emission reduction
— Climate change initiatives
— Ecological protection

— Emission control
— Efficiency enhancement of 
    resources and energy
— Participation of public welfare activities 
    in respect of environmental protection

Society and
  the public

— Participation in community 
    development
— In support of public welfare activities
— Environmental protection

— Public welfare and charitable activities
— Volunteer services
— Culture of health



Annual Report 2016 23

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

1.3	 Identification of Material Issues

In 2016, the Group further refined the processes of defining the contents of the report with reference to 
the requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange. 
The Group strengthened the interaction with stakeholders through various means, identified and ranked 
the material issues concerned by stakeholders, and finalized the degree and scope of disclosure of the 
issues to ensure a more accurate and complete disclosure of information related to operation 
management.

Screening processes of environmental,
social and governance issues

Source of the issues

— Recommendations from the company’s management
— Analysis and recommendations from internal and external experts
— Multimedia information analysis
— Benchmarking study of domestic and foreign peers
— Guidelines for social responsibility

Screening criteria

— Contribution to sustainable development
— Generally concerned by stakeholders
— Highlighted in related guidelines for social responsibility
— In line with the Company’s strategic development needs

Results of identification of material issues
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Material Issues Matrix for Kinetic Mines

Safe production and
occupational health

Pollutant emission control
Green

reclamation

Resource protection and utilization
Coal quality 
management

Compliance operations

Waste management

Staff recruitment and development

Ef�cient coal mining
Supplier management

Social welfare

Th
e 

si
g

n
i�

ca
n

ce
 t

o
 t

h
e 

su
st

ai
n

ab
le

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f

st
ak

eh
o

ld
er

s

The signi�cance to the sustainable development of
Kinetic MinesLow High

Anti-corruption

Business performance growth

High



Annual Report 2016 25

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

2	 Safe and efficient production

The Group is committed to the use of advance technology to produce high-quality coal to meet different 
customers’ various needs in terms of quality, energy value, environmental protection and so on. We also focus 
on the development of downstream transportation, trade and other businesses, the reinforcement and 
optimization of the industrial chain as well as the improvement of overall efficiency to create more value for 
shareholders.

2.1	 Leading technology and industrial chain resources

The Group’s emphasis is on safe and efficient mining. By adopting the state-of-the-art coal mining 
technology — integrated mechanized coal mining technology (“integrated top coal caving”), all major 
production processes such as coal breaking, coal loading, coal transportation and supports are 
mechanized. To enhance product diversification, the Group has built a coal processing plant with an 
annual handling capacity of 5 million tonnes in the mining area. The plant can process self-produced raw 
coal and those procured from third parties to produce various coal products to meet the varying energy 
value requirements of our customers.

Our mining operations are mainly at the Dafanpu Coal Mine, which has approximately 432.8 million 
tonnes of coal resources in line with the Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code), of which No. 6 coal seam, with average coal seam thickness of 
23 meters, is the one with the highest-quality coal. After the commencement of commercial production at 
the coal seam in early 2014, the Group’s production volume of commercial coal has significantly increased 
and the production cost per tonne dropped considerably.

For downstream industries, the Group holds 45% interest in the Xiaojia loading station and its associated 
rail spur lines. With an average handling capacity of about 5,000 tonnes per hour, it transports the coal 
products produced at the Dafanpu Coal Mine and those procured from other third-party coal mine 
operators to Kinetic (Qinhuangdao) Energy Co., Ltd for sale. In this way, transportation costs of coal are 
reduced drastically and the Group’s coal trading business in Qinhuangdao is strengthened, thereby 
consolidating the Group’s position in the coal industry by focusing on the latest trends in pricing, 
marketing, transportation demand, technology, safety and management.

After years of strategic layout, Kinetic Mines has formed an accomplished industrial chain from coal 
production and washing, coal loading and transportation to coal trading, enabling the Group to highlight 
its competitive and cost advantages in a tough business environment and to lay a solid foundation for 
long-term sustainable development and to ensure that the Group effectively responds to the challenges 
faced by the coal industry during the over-capacity cycle of the coal industry.
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2.2	 Provision of quality products

The Group responded positively to the national calls for environmental protection and haze control with 
strict regulations on the coal calorific value, sulfur content and ash, and strived to provide quality fuel for 
customers. The Group’s “Kinetic 2” high-quality coal which has characteristics of high calorific value, low 
sulfur content (of which sulfur content is less than 0.6%, and according to sulfur grade GB/T 15224.2-
2010, is identified as low sulfur), less dust during combustion and stable coal quality, has become one of 
the main coals in the northern port for high quality coal blending.

The Group mostly conducts quality control of products at the coal processing plant. The facilities of the 
coal processing plant of the Dafanpu Coal Mine are divided into: raw coal system, washing and processing 
system, media system, slime water treatment system and product storage and transportation system while 
a variety of control and monitoring measures are taken to ensure the coal after washing and processing is 
in comply with various quality requirements.

High density
automatic

adjustment system

Detection,
measurement and
protection system

Dispatching
communication

system

Automatic control
system

Industrial video
surveillance system

Dispatching
communication

system

Figure: Quality control system integration in coal processing plant
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Video surveillance system in coal processing plant

To ensure that the products provided meet customers’ requirements and expectations, the Group attaches 
importance to effective communication with customers and actively maintains customer relationships. In 
order to improve our products and services, and adjust our production strategies, we have occasional 
visits, talks and symposiums based on customers’ characteristics to understand our customers’ opinions 
and feedback. The Group’s Kinetic (Qinhuangdao) Energy Co., Ltd will have a phone call follow-up and 
communicate with every customer for each batch of products.

2.3	 Supplier management and evaluation

To fully improve the supply chain management, the Group has formulated the “Procurement 
Management System” to standardize the procurement process and supplier management, control the 
quality of procurement, score the suppliers, with efforts to work with suppliers for mutual development. 
The Group regularly assesses the quality of suppliers, delivery, and coordination degree which are all 
included in the assessment materials. Based on the results of the assessment, the supplier will be 
eliminated or replaced.
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3	 Safety and health

The Group values production safety. A safety management system is established to cover all aspects from coal 
production and washing, coal loading and transportation to coal trading, thus strengthens the safety 
management on site, raises the safety awareness of all staff, ensures stable and continued production as well as 
occupational health and safety of employees. In 2016, there were no production safety incidents and work-
related injuries or death.

3.1	 Guarantee of safe production

Safety management system

The Group always adhere to the production management philosophy “safety first, prevention first” and 
strictly abides by the “Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Coal Industry Law of 
the People’s Republic of China”, “Coal Mine Safety Rules” and other national, local and industrial 
regulations in daily production and operation. Coal mines are to establish a sound safety management 
system, including: 1. regular monthly meetings of the Security Council organized by the Company; 2. 
monthly self-inspection and daily inspection organized in the coal mines; 3. the establishment of a system 
requiring experts to investigate into potential problems; 4, inspections and spot-checks by autonomous 
regions, municipalities, Qi Coal Bureau and State Administration of Work Safety. We have also developed 
a safe production-related system, and a well-established risk management system consisting of the 
identification assessment, process control and security supervision. The system’s overall management and 
maintenance is responsible by the Coal Mine Safety Division and is implemented and executed by the 
district teams.

• Quality Control
   of measures
• Regular investigation
   on potential problems
• Rectification and
   feedback on defect

Security
supervision

• Preparation of
   management systems
• Design of operational
   process
• Optimization of process
   technology
• Information Statistics

Process
control

Identification
assessment

• Identification of
   hazard sources
• Risk rating
   assessment
• Collection of laws
   and regulations   

On-site safety management

The Group prioritizes on-site safety management and carries out various safety measures in daily 
production practice based on local conditions. Through various types of operations permits, standardized 
operational procedures, equipment modification and other risk control measures, we are able to carry out 
risk control in detail. We regularly investigate potential on-site security risks and accident attributes, 
research and discuss those unreasonable design, and gradually improve the on-site safety. In 2016, the 
Group held discussion on procedures that easily cause on-site safety incidents and operation faults such as 
belt transmission, personnel downhole transport and man-machine cross-operation in Dafanpu Coal Mine, 
and implemented a number of measures to ensure safe operation.
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Contingency plan

The Group regularly conducts emergency drills regarding fire, flood and geological disasters. The 
contingency plans are being inspected and adjusted in the actual drills to ensure the effect of its 
implementation. The emergency drills improve the emergency headquarters’ ability to deploy, command, 
communicate and coordinate, the team’s ability to respond quickly, and enhance the familiarity of the drill 
organization unit, participating units and personnel to the emergency plan. In 2016, the Group organized 
three safety drills in which 150 people participated.

The Group has developed a handling process for safety incidents. By the establishment of part-time coal 
mine ambulance teams and the purchase of special emergency ambulances, the emergency handling 
capacity for safety incidents can be enhanced.

Safety incident handling flow chart

Keep the accident documents
in the archives and apply to

the Labor Bureau for
identi�cation

Prepare an accident
report based on the
“three principles”

Report the situation of
the accident scene

Convene an accident
analysis meeting, analyze
the cause of the accident

Rescue the distress,
protect the scene of

the accident

On-the-scene investigation,
extract the evidence

of the accident

Arrange vehicle to escort
the injured to hospital

for treatment

Coal mine rescue team

In order to be timely and effective in ambulance operations during accidents, the Group set up a part-
time coal mine rescue team consisting of 15 members, including three professional ambulancemen, a 
team captain and a deputy, and an equipment administrator. The part-time coal mine rescue team is 
directly under the leadership of the coal mine manager and guided by the chief engineer (technical 
director) and Zhunqi coal mine rescue captain. The chief of the Safety Supervision Division is 
responsible for daily training assessment management and ventilation engineers are responsible for 
technical business management and the planning of monthly training programs and related technical 
measures. Part-time coal mine rescue team includes a captain and equipment and devices 
management staff, who were responsible for daily management and equipment and devices 
management respectively. Officers of the part-time coal mine rescue team would obtain the 
corresponding qualification certificate after training assessment, and would comply with duties of 
coal mine rescue officers.
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Safety training and education

The Group carries out compulsory safety training on the newly employed, transferred employees and 
special operations personnel. New downhole operations staff has to receive safety education with not less 
than 72 training hours. After passing the examination, the staff has to sign a mentoring contract with 
employees that are experienced in safety at work. The staff has to work under an experienced employee 
for four months and pass the assessment before acting independently. In 2016, the Group’s safety 
training coverage rate was 100%.

With a view to continuously improve the safety awareness of employees, the Group provides safety 
education for the staff through various forms:

•	 Make full use of the pre-shift meeting to carry out safety education for employees. The district team 
strictly stipulated that the chief and the deputy must talk about safety topics such as safety issue and 
quality standardization in pre-shift meeting respectively. Many a little make a mickle, making the  
staff bear sense of safety in mind.

•	 Conduct safety training for all employees every Friday. The district team always has safety training 
for all staff every week. Led by the security deputy in charge and executed by engineers and 
technicians, targeted training in terms of production safety, quality standardization, operating 
procedures, accident cases and various documents issued by the Company on implementation is 
held every Friday for all staff. Tests will be held from time to time to evaluate the training 
effectiveness, improve learning efficiency and incentives of the staff.

•	 Monthly examination aims at improving special staff’s job skills and helping them master the 
operation standards, so that they can play by the rules and regulations to ensure production safety.
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Safety knowledge contest

To provide more education on the safety of coal mine production, improve the safety awareness of all 
personnel and help spread safety knowledge, we actively cooperated with the coal authorities on 
organizing activities for the 2016 fifteenth Safety Month which is themed “strengthening the concept 
of safe development, improve the quality of national security”. The Group held the second 
“Occupational Safety Knowledge Competition” in June 2016, which was divided into two parts: on-
site knowledge competition and random quiz at coal mines. Through the various forms of interactive 
quiz and competition, the staff has deepened their understanding of safety knowledge while the 
participants could acquire more theoretical knowledge and put them into practice.

3.2	 Care for employees’ occupational health

The Group seeks to provide employees with a safe working environment to protect employees’ 
occupational safety. According to the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control 
of Occupational Diseases”, “Provisions on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Hazards at the 
Work Sites of Coal Mines” and “Provisions on the Supervision and Administration of Occupational Health 
at Work Sites”, the Group entrusts qualified institutions to carry out the examination and evaluation of 
occupational hazards in coal mine workplaces. Through prevention and control of occupational hazards, 
the staff’s operating environment and staff health would be improved. The Group provides regular 
physical examinations for employees, with a coverage of 100% in 2016.
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The Group pays attention to the impact of production noise on the health of the staff, therefore we 
worked on various aspects from individual protective gears to noise-reduced production facilities and 
transmission, striving to minimize the impact of noise on the staff.

Personal protective 
  equipment

The plant production staff are all equipped with earplugs and other labor 
protection supplies to reduce noise damage to hearing.

Noise-reduced
  production facilities

•	 Advanced production equipments are selected, of which all main 
equipment is imported or imported-joint venture and in line with 
international noise standards.

•	 All rotating parts of the equipment are closed for noise isolation.

•	 Reduce the noise generated by the chute: install the welding baffle 
plate at the bottom of the chute; reduce the noise of the chute with a 
rubber cushion and cover.

•	 Reduce the noise generated by the vibrating sieve: replace the steel 
plate with a flexible sieve; reduce the sieve amplitude without affecting 
the sieve capacity (sieving efficiency); seal the running gear and cover 
it with a sound absorber.

Noise transmission 
  reduction

Plant trees and lawns around the production plant to reduce traffic noise in 
the production area.

The Group has established strict management and monitoring measures against the harmful effects of 
underground toxic and harmful gases on downhole staff. Dust measuring workers, ventilation workers 
and gas inspectors need to regularly participate in training and assessment.

Protect staff’s occupational health initiatives: dust measuring

Dust measuring is divided into total dust and respirable fine dust measuring. We would ensure the 
fine dust concentration at workplace meet the standard, that is, the total dust does not exceed 4mg/
m3 and respirable dust does not exceed 2.5mg/m3. Consequently, we regularly measure the fine dust 
in all coal mines according to the work plan, i.e. total dust measuring twice a month and respiratory 
fine dust measuring once a month, and keep ledger for fine dust measuring to assess the on-site 
labor hygiene conditions. Pursuant to the requirements of the Coal Mine Safety Rules, the coal mine 
has adopted a series of dustproof measures covering above and underground. Underground 
ventilation to reduce dust, sprinkler spray, dust masks, cleaning of roads, built-in water curtain and 
wet operations are installed as underground dustproof measures. For above ground dustproof 
measures, industrial sites are equipped with fire sprinkler vehicles and water is regularly sprinkled to 
reduce dust, while planting a large number of flowers and trees appears to be an effective control of 
the amount of dust.
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Food safety in canteen

To regulate the canteen management, the Group formulated the “staff canteen management 
regulations”, “canteen safety management system” and “canteen management system”. All canteen 
staff has obtained both “health certificate” and “practice certificate”, and participated in annual unified 
occupational health examination and the Company’s unified medical examination. Canteen chefs also 
have quarterly unified physical examination and problems identified will be adjusted in time. Canteen does 
not purchase products that are uncertified, dateless and produced by a nameless factory, and timely 
cleans out the outdated and those failed the purchase requirements. Two refrigerators are specially 
installed for food sampling which is conducted twice a day while drinking water in the canteen is 
inspected with live fish once every day to ensure water quality. At the same time, two people are 
responsible for cleaning and sterilizing tableware. The farm owned by the Group takes care all living 
creatures with clean water and fodder purchased via formal channels. Dead poultry would be deep buried 
and would never be served.

4	 Green environmental protection

The Group targets to build a resource-saving and environment-friendly enterprise to promote green production. 
Environmental protection and resource conservation are carried out through atmospheric control, waste water 
treatment, solid waste treatment and greening to effectively control emissions of the main pollutants and 
maintain a reasonable level of energy consumption. Meanwhile, the Group has followed up the work of 
reclamation and greening and strengthened the monitoring of geological disasters in the mining area to fully 
protect the ecological balance. The total investment and operating cost in relation to environmental protection 
during the year was RMB7.9 million.

4.1	 Saving energy and reducing resource consumption

The Group has long advocated new technologies and techniques for energy saving and reducing 
consumption, new technology while eliminating backward high energy-consuming process equipment. 
Advanced energy-saving technology is applied into the actual production process in a timely manner to 
enhance resource utilization. In 2016, the Group’s aggregate comprehensive energy consumption per ten 
thousand yuan output value was 0.117 tonnes of standard coal and the water consumed per ten 
thousand yuan output value was 9.292 m3/ten thousand yuan.

To improve the efficiency of electricity use and to ensure safe use of electricity, the Group has drafted the 
“electrical safety management system”, which stipulates the energy-saving measures for electricity 
management. The Group mainly uses gasoline for business vehicles and diesel fuel for mining machinery 
and equipment. Relevant records are kept separately and timely.
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The Group implements the “Water Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the regulations of 
provinces and municipalities on the administration of water resources as well as water-saving measures to 
intensify water efficiency. Coal mine wastewater and domestic sewage produced by the Group are used 
as the cooling water of the thermal power plant, the circulating water of the coal processing plant, dust 
reduction and land greening after thorough treatment. Reuse rates of coal mine wastewater and domestic 
sewage are both 100%.

2016 annual use of energy and resources
   

Total energy consumption milliwatt approximately 4,000

Gasoline liter approximately 62,000

Diesel fuel liter approximately 167,000

Water Tonne approximately 450,000

4.2	 Emission control

Exhaust gas

The Group has implemented “Air Pollution Prevention and Control Action Plan” to strengthen the 
regulation of air emission, scheduled the centralized heating project in the mining and living area, 
formulated the transformation plan of the industrial boiler based on the list of air pollutant discharged, 
launched the desulfurization and denitrification of boiler flue gas, made sure a normal operation of all 
facilities as well as up to standard pollutant emissions. In 2016, the Group’s total emissions of waste gas 
mainly generated from primary sources such as the heating boiler and coal drying plant, was 1.1 million 
standard cubic meters. After the modification of the heating boiler and drying plant, the emissions of SO2 
and dust emissions has decreased by 94.2 tonnes and 54.8 tonnes respectively.

Wastewater

The Group has established industrial sewage treatment stations and domestic sewage treatment stations 
to deal with coal mine wastewater and domestic sewage respectively. Based on the actual situation of the 
coal mine, the Group has also invested in the construction of a water purification station. All the purified 
water is in compliance with the drinking water standard. The Group also focuses on the water quality of 
the feed outlet of the sewage treatment facilities export. Strict monitoring, non-compliance warning and 
notification system are intact to make certain that all production wastewater and domestic sewage will be 
recycled after treatment and achieve zero emissions.
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Solid Waste

The solid wastes mainly involved in the production and operation of the Group include: slime and coal 
gangue produced during the mining process, waste mineral oil produced during mechanical maintenance 
and waste paper in administration.

Slime and coal gangue In 2016, the Group produced approximately 2 million tonnes of slime and 
coal gangue. Part of them is used as low-calorific-value fuel in drying plant 
in coal processing plant and the rest of coal gangue and fly ash are used for 
building materials, road construction and filling the collapsed surface. The 
utilization rate is 100%.

Waste mineral oil The Group centralizes the management of the waste mineral oil (oil, 
lubricating oil, etc.) produced in the production process. Waste mineral oil is 
removed and disposed from time to time by external disposal unit to prevent 
pollution of the environment. In 2016, 3.8 tonnes of waste oil is produced 
and all has been disposed safely.

Waste paper The Group has carried out the “Company Waste Paper Recycling and 
Utilization Management Measures” for waste paper from printing and 
copying, which stipulated that, except for official documents, the documents 
circulated within the unit should be used for double-sided printing or 
copying; files should be shared through network; single-sided printed paper 
should be used to draft documents, make notes and internal memoranda. In 
addition, monthly statistics of the amount of paper received by each 
department is made, and the department receiving a larger amount of paper 
would be supervised. Single-sided printed paper collection box is placed next 
to the shared printer so as to gather and reuse those waste paper.

4.3	 Ecological protection

Reclamation and greening

In 2016, the Group set up a greening team, responsible for the management of mined areas. The team 
proactively treated subsidence areas upon its establishment pursuant to relevant policies, making the mine 
a leader in surrounding coal mines in terms of subsidence area treatment. The treated areas are inspected 
and recorded regularly. Second risk, new risk and newly discovered danger will be treated right away 
when identified to make no negative impact to the mined and subsidence area during the coal mine 
operation. In 2016, the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine has 875 acres of subsidence area and 806 acres of 
restored subsidence area in the mine field. Also, 3,303 trees were planted and the accumulated planted 
trees were up to 10,758 with a survival rate of 86%. Green coverage is nearly 10,000 square meters. 
Taking advantage of the terrain, fish pond of about 3,000 square meters is built to effectively improve the 
ecological environment of the mining area.
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Geological disaster monitoring

Each year, the Group has formulated the “three preventions” contingency plans for the yearly rainy 
season to clarify the organization and responsibilities. For geological disasters such as landslides, collapse, 
ground subsidence and debris flows that may exist in mining areas, factories, residential area and 
surrounding mountains, dynamic monitoring and prevention is enhanced. Warning signs are set up in 
dangerous areas and cordon is set up in vulnerable areas to prohibit from entering. In the event of danger, 
the Group will timely report to the village committee and local government, and get ready for security 
evacuation. In 2016, all members of the part-time ambulance team of the Dafanpu Coal Mine were 
trained and qualified. During the reporting period, potential problems were inspected regarding the rainy 
season “three preventions”. All ten problems identified were rectified and no serious geological disaster 
has happened.

5	 Caring for employees

5.1	 Recruitment

The Group values each and every employee and believes that our staff is the cornerstone of business 
growth, hence we strive to protect their legal rights. By establishing the Party Branch, we organize party 
meetings on living a democratic life and a wide range of activities for party members, where their roles as 
exemplary leaders have been brought into full play during the course of operation. On top of that, we 
have also established a trade union and fully leveraged its role in the development of corporate culture by 
swiftly receiving and accepting opinion and suggestions from our staff. In March 2016 and August 2016, 
we establish the “Home of Workers” and “Staff Library”. In 2016, we were awarded the title of 
“Advanced Home of Workers” by the Zhunge’er Banner Federation of Trade Unions. We put into practice 
the corporate culture that encourages communication, self-reflection, self-discipline, kindness to others 
and cooperation, while discourages complaints, reprimands and refusal in the production process of coal 
mines. At the same time, the Company has optimized the personnel management and adopted a people-
oriented approach to protect the legal rights of our employees. We also provided employees with a safe 
working environment and cared about their physical and mental well-being in our pursuit of mutual 
development of the Company and the staff.

The Group has formulated the “Personnel Management System” for systematic, standardized and 
scientific human resources management. In terms of employee recruitment, the Company adheres to the 
principle of “transparency, fairness, equal competition, meritocracy and free will” and selects the best 
person for job based on individual merit. We advocate the adoption of a wide range of channels for 
recruitment, encourage internal promotion and selection as well as support our employees to enhance 
their professional know-how. The Group stringently operates its recruitment system and procedures so as 
to avoid child labor (workers aged below 16) or employees aged 16-18 be assigned to job positions that 
pose threats to their health and safety. The Group prohibits and disapproves of any intensive labor or 
forced labor while promotes equal, fair and respectful treatment to every employee. Open communication 
between our workers and the management is encouraged to tackle problems in workplace.

As of 31 December 2016, the Dafanpu Coal Mine of the Group has a total of 567 employees.
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Workforce composition by age

30%

35%

7%

28%

30 or below 30

Between 41–50

Between 31–40

Above 50

5.2	 Democratic communication

The Company believes that a smooth communication channel is conducive to continuous improvement of 
the practices of the Group and its coal mines, which in turn enhances our service quality and operational 
efficiency. In order to ensure that all employees be able to lodge complaints or give advice through a 
smooth channel so as to facilitate better supervision of the works of various departments and section 
offices, the Group has established a complaint box as well as an opinion mailbox for employees to express 
their opinion and give suggestions anonymously or with real-names in printed or electronic form. The 
Company seriously addresses observation and complaints made by all employees, and initiates 
investigation procedure according to the actual situations and stringently holds wrongdoers accountable.

5.3	 Training and development

The Group places great importance to employee training and development and has formulated the 
“Regulations of Training Management” for enhancing the organization and management of trainings in 
the Company’s coal mines. Such regulations aim at strengthening various attributes and abilities of staff, 
improving the outcomes of training programs and enhancing cohesion within the Company.

The Group adopts a training model centering around the development of the Company and the operation 
and management of coal mines. Our training model, which combines internal training and external 
training, has fully utilized various training resources to maximize training effectiveness The two major 
training systems of the Company include the training system on business and the training system on coal 
mine safety. The training system on business mainly comprises induction training, departmental internal 
training, professional mentoring, training on self-development and outdoor training, whereas the training 
system on coal mine safety mainly comprises orientation training on work safety, education on safety, 
certificate training courses for workers of special positions. In 2016, all employees received trainings of the 
Group.
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Technical Skills Competition

In order to enhance professionalism and personal attributes of our staff, developing a highly skilled 
workforce and nurturing technical talents for our business growth, the Group launched the first 
Technical Skills Competition for our staff in 2016. The competition was divided into four categories, 
namely above-ground electrician, underground electrician, mechanic and welder, and consisted two 
parts, including a written test on theories and a simulated practical test. This event aimed to reflect 
the levels of our employees’ technical know-how, encouraged them to learn from and compete with 
each other and provide a reference for future selection of team leaders. 42 contestants were selected 
from their respective units to participate in four categories of the competition. The top three 
contestants from each category and a team award-winner were finally selected. The Group plans to 
hold such technical skills competitions from time to time for the purpose of developing talents who 
are “eager, willing and capable to make achievements”.

5.4	 Building a “Family Culture”

To promote sense of belonging and incentive among our employees, the Group strives to cultivate a 
“family culture” in the workplace so that our employees feel our care. In September 2016, the Group 
organized the Company’s first “Family Culture” Month and a promotional campaign. The Company has 
also held a range of leisure activities, such as trekking challenge and basketball competition to promote 
team spirit and enthusiasm.
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6	 Contributing to the society

The Group proactively participates in local community building and cares for living conditions of the residents. 
By improving infrastructure and favoring local residents in the recruitment process, we aims at developing a 
safe, civilized and harmonious community through concerted effort. In 2016, The Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine 
has provided assistance to the road maintenance of two neighboring villages and sponsored festival celebration, 
contributing a total of RMB100,000.

Qinhuangdao subsidiary sponsored high-school skating competition

Our subsidiary, Qinhuangdao Sales Company, became the sole title sponsor of the 12th Beidaihe Skating 
Festival held in the Biluota Bar Park from 30 April 2016 to 2 May 2016. The event aimed at developing 
Qinhuangdao as a city renowned for its leisure and sports culture.

Tree planting volunteering program

Tree planting not only green and beautify our home, but also enrich forest resources, prevent land 
degradation, protect farmland, regulate the climate and promote economic development. Thus, it is a 
magnificent project that benefits both the present community and the future generation. In April 2016, the 
Group organized the annual tree planting volunteering program and received positive feedback from our 
staff. A total of over 100 employees from the senior management, intermediate management and entry-
level staff participated in this tree planting activity. The interaction between our staff and the local 
community helps create a green environment and also enhances the cohesion between the Company and 
the community.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Li (張力), aged 64, has been the chairman and an executive Director of our Company since 6 March 
2012. He graduated from Guangzhou Open University (廣州市廣播電視大學) in 1986 and is responsible for our 
Group’s overall business strategy and corporate development and the identification of potential acquisition targets for 
our Group which he founded in 2006. Mr. Zhang is the father of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and the brother of Ms. 
Zhang Lin.

Mr. Zhang was the secretary of the Youth League Committee of Guangzhou Second Light Industry Bureau (廣州市二
輕局) from 1975 and 1981 and the head of production department of Guangzhou Baiyun District Rural Enterprise 
Administration (廣州市白雲區鄉鎮企業管理局) from 1981 to 1985 and the general manager of Guangzhou 
Meihuacun Hotel (廣州市梅花村酒店) and Guangzhou Tianli Property Development Corp. (廣州天力房地產開發公司), 
the predecessor of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (廣州富力地產股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange, from 1985 to 1994 and from 1994 to 2000, respectively. As one of the co-founders and controlling 
shareholders of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (廣州富力地產股份有限公司), he is currently its chief executive 
officer and one of the co-chairmen and executive directors. Mr. Zhang is a member of the 11th and 12th National 
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (中國人民政治協商會議全國委員會), the 
chairman of China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (全國工商聯房地產商會) and a director and a part-time 
professor of Jinan University (暨南大學) in China.

Mr. Gu Jianhua (顧建華), aged 63, has been an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company 
since 7 January 2013. He studied economics and management at the Central Party School (中央黨校) in the PRC from 
1994 to 1996, and is a senior engineer in China.

Mr. Gu has nearly 40 years of experience in the coal mining industry of China. Prior to joining our Group in September 
2009. Mr. Gu worked in Fengcheng Mining Bureau (豐城礦務局) in Jiangxi Province, China from 1971 to 1995 where 
he accumulated extensive experience in coal production and safety management while serving in various senior 
positions including as deputy mine manager of Jianxin No. 2 Coal Mine (建新二礦) and as deputy chief engineer of 
the bureau. He served as general manager of a company under the Ministry of Coal Industry (煤炭工業部) in Qingdao, 
China from 1995 to 1997, assistant to the general manager of the China Coal Comprehensive Utilisation Group 
Company (中國煤炭綜合利用集團公司) and head of its general office from 1997 to 1999, deputy head of the Coal 
Industry Comprehensive Utilisation of Technology Consultation Centre (煤炭綜合利用多種經營技術諮詢中心) under 
the Ministry of Coal Industry (煤炭工業部) of China from 1999 to 2002, chairman and party secretary of China Coal 
Electric Company Limited (中煤電氣有限公司) from 2002 to 2004 with key responsibilities for overseeing the 
production of high- and low-voltage electrical cabinets, as well as deputy secretary and general manager for the 
mineral resources development department of China Coal Comprehensive Utilisation Group Company (中國煤炭綜合
利用集團公司) from 2004 to 2009 with key responsibilities in mineral resources development and technology 
consultation.

Mr. Gu is a committee member of the National Technical Committee of Standardisation of Low-voltage Switchgear 
and Control Equipment Administration of the PRC (中華人民共和國全國低壓成套開關設備和控制設備標準化技術委
員會).
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Mr. Gu directed and wrote numerous dissertations, including the “Measures for the Administration of Safety 
Production (安全生產管理辦法)” for Fengcheng Mining Bureau (豐城礦務局) of Jiangxi Province, China in 1994 and 
the “Provisional Measures for the Administration of Safety Production (安全生產管理試行辦法)” of Beijing Zhongmei 
Electric Co., Ltd. (北京中煤電氣有限公司) in November 2002, which was then consolidated into the document 
“Zhongmei Electric Installation No. 001 (中煤電氣安裝001號文)”, and won various prizes for scientific and 
technological achievements, including awards in relation to the redevelopment of certain mine shaft ventilation 
systems and the construction of a new mine for Fengcheng Mining Bureau (豐城礦務局) between 1973 to 1974 and 
1982 to 1986, respectively. Mr. Gu was awarded a certificate of long-term service in the coal industry by China 
National Coal Association (中國煤炭工業協會) in 2005 in recognition of his contributions to the coal industry of China 
throughout the years.

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (張量), aged 35, has been an executive Director since 6 March 2012. He assists Mr. 
Zhang Li in devising the overall business strategy and corporate development plan of our Group. Mr. Zhang is the son 
of Mr. Zhang Li and the nephew of Ms. Zhang Lin.

Mr. Zhang has been a president of Guangzhou Heng Liang Mechanical & Electrical Engineering Co., Ltd. (廣州恒量機
電工程有限公司) , a construction company, and a director of Hengleung Construction Holdings Limited (恒量建設集
團有限公司) , an investment holding company, since 2010 and 2008, respectively, and participated in the overall 
business strategic planning of these companies.

Mr. Zhang is the sole director of KING LOK HOLDINGS LIMITED, which held approximately 62.96% of the issued share 
capital of the Company as of 31 December 2016.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Zhang Lin (張琳), aged 68, has been a non-executive Director of the Company since 6 March 2012. She 
graduated from the South China University of Technology (華南理工大學) with a bachelor degree in electrical 
engineering theory and electronic technology in 1982 and served as a teaching assistant and a lecturer at the same 
university from 1982 to 1993 and was an associate professor from 1993 to 2003, teaching electrical principles and 
electronic technology. She has been a non-executive director of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (廣州富力地產股
份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since 2004. Ms. Zhang is the sister of Mr. Zhang Li and the 
aunt of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (史小予), aged 68, has been an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6 March 
2012. He graduated from Tongji University (同濟大學) with a bachelor’s degree in urban planning in 1982. He worked 
in the Urban Planning Bureau of the Guangzhou Municipality (廣州市城市規劃局) and the Guangzhou Urban 
Planning & Design Survey Research Institute (廣州市城市規劃勘測設計研究院) from 1982 to 2004 and held various 
senior positions such as deputy director and director of the Urban Planning Bureau of the Guangzhou Municipality (廣
州市城市規劃局), dean of the Guangzhou Urban Planning & Design Survey Research Institute and chief engineer of 
the Urban Planning Bureau of the Guangzhou Municipality (廣州市城市規劃局). He is a qualified urban planning 
engineer and is currently the executive vice president of Guangzhou Urban Planning Association (廣州市城市規劃協
會), a member of the Urban Planning Committee of the Guangzhou Municipality (廣州市城市規劃委員會) and a 
counsellor of the People’s Government of Guangzhou Municipality in China. He resigned as the Company’s 
independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April 2016.

Ms. Liu Peilian (劉佩蓮), aged 63, has been an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6 March 
2012. She completed her undergraduate education in finance and accounting from Guangzhou Open University (廣州
市廣播電視大學) in 1990 and obtained her master’s degree in business administration from Murdoch University in 
Australia in 2002. Ms. Liu is an accountant, a certified public accountant and a certified tax agent in the PRC and has 
approximately 40 years of experience in finance and accounting. She worked in the Guangzhou Financial Bureau (廣
州市財政局) from 1971 to 1985 and held various senior positions with Shu Lun Pan Yangcheng Certified Public 
Accountants Co., Ltd. (立信羊城會計師事務所有限公司) and its predecessor firms including director, deputy chief 
accountant and consultant between 1985 to 2009. She has been a consultant of Qinghai Huading Industrial Co., Ltd. 
(青海華鼎實業股份有限公司), a manufacturer of mechanical products listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since 
2010 and an independent director of Keda Industrial Co., Ltd. (廣東科達機電股份有限公司) from 2009 to 2015, 
another manufacturer of mechanical products listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, and GRG Banking Equipment 
Co., Ltd. (廣州廣電運通金融電子股份有限公司), an automatic teller machine supplier listed on the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange, since 2011. Moreover, she has been an independent director of Guangzhou Hongteo Accurate Technology 
Co., Ltd. (廣東鴻特精密技術股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from 2013 to 2016.

Mr. Zheng Ercheng (鄭爾城), aged 59, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 24 
March 2015. He has extensive experience in China’s banking industry and financial sector. He was the sub-branch 
deputy governor and then governor of China Construction Bank, Guangzhou Branch, Tianhe Sub-branch from 1987 
to 1997, the general manager of the International Business Department of the Guangzhou Branch of the China 
Construction Bank from 1997 to 1999 and the general manager of the Guangzhou Branch of Cinda Asset 
Management Company from 1999 to 2000. He was also a supervisor of the supervisory committee of Guangzhou 
R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 2777), which is a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) from June 2004 to May 2014 and a director of PCI-Suntek Technology Co., Ltd., (佳都新太科
技股份有限公司) (Stock Code: 600728), which is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from February 
2008 to April 2014. Mr. Zheng has retired from active employment since 2000.

Mr. Zheng is an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of the 
audit committee and nomination committee of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd., a position he has held since May 
2014.
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Ms. Xue Hui (薛慧), aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 April 
2016. She has extensive experience in the construction and real estate industries. She acquired a certificate of 
Intermediate Economist in 2003, and has served as the department head of the personnel office of Guangzhou 
Municipal Farm Administration (廣州市農場管理局) from 1974 to 1993, the deputy general manager of Guangzhou 
Sino Properties Development Company Ltd (廣州信和房地產開發有限公司) from 1994 to 2003 and the general 
manager of Chongqing R&F Properties Development Company Ltd (重慶富力城地產開發有限公司) from 2003 to 
2015.

Senior Management

Mr. Xiao Runzhang (肖潤章), aged 58, is the general manager of the safety technology department of our Group. 
He graduated from Hebei Institute of Coal Architectural Engineering (河北煤炭建築工程學院) (now known as Hebei 
University of Engineering (河北工程大學)) in the PRC in infrastructure management and engineering in 1987. He is a 
qualified civil engineer and a qualified mining engineer in China.

Mr. Xiao has over 30 years of experience in coal mine engineering. Prior to joining our Group in July 2007, Mr. Xiao 
worked in Xuangang Mining Bureau (軒崗礦務局) of Shanxi Province, China from 1980 to 1994 for over 13 years, 
during which he held various senior positions including deputy director and accumulated extensive experience in mine 
construction management through his involvement in various projects including the construction of Xuangang 
Thermal Power Plant (軒崗電廠) and relevant coal washing and processing facilities in Shanxi Province, China. He also 
served as deputy general manager of Shanxi Coal Mechanisation Construction Company (山西煤炭機械化施工公司) 
from 1994 to 2007 for over 13 years, during which he oversaw mine construction projects involving Jincheng Mining 
Bureau (晉城礦務局) and Lu’an Mining Bureau (潞安礦務局), Shaqu Mine (沙曲礦) which is ultimately owned by 
China Coal Energy Company Limited (中國中煤能源股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange, and Shanxi Coking Coal Group Co., Ltd. (山西焦煤有限責任公司), a Shanxi-based coking 
coal company, Pingshuo Anjialing Coal Mine (平朔安家嶺煤礦) which is also owned ultimately by China Coal Energy 
Company Limited and various other mines.

Mr. Zhu Mingbao (朱明寶), aged 49, is the chief coal mine engineer of our Group. He completed studies in mine 
shaft construction at Datong Coal Industry Institute (大同煤炭工業學校) (now known as Shanxi Datong University (山
西大同大學)) in Shanxi Province, China in 1989 and in sales and marketing at Yancheng Industrial College (鹽城工業
專科學校) (now known as Yancheng Institute of Technology (鹽城工學院)) in 1995. He is studying coal mine 
production technology at Inner Mongolia University of Technology (內蒙古工業大學) in China. He is a qualified 
engineer in coal mine safety and production in China.

Mr. Zhu has over 21 years of experience in coal mine engineering. Prior to joining our Group in May 2010, Mr. Zhu 
was the technical manager of the Guqiao Coal Mine (顧橋煤礦) owned by Huainan Mining (Group) Co., Ltd. (淮南礦
業(集團)有限責任公司), a state-owned coal mining company, in Anhui Province, China from 2006 to 2010 and was 
responsible for coal mine engineering and management. At Guqiao Coal Mine, he took part in the building of y-type 
ventilation systems which enhanced work safety in a high gas environment. He held various positions including deputy 
chief mine engineer in coal mines in Xuzhou in Jiangsu Province, China for over 16 years from 1989 to 2006, during 
which he co-designed the waterproof coal pillars utilised for a coal mine situated under a lake, which not only 
enhanced production safety but also enabled the extraction of more coal from the mine, and reconstructed its adit so 
that it bypassed the variegated mudstone layer where the underground pathway was often damaged as a result of 
the passing of heavy machinery. At a steep-slope mine in Xuzhou, he utilised anchor cables for support in tunnel 
constructions which enabled the extraction of more coal from the floor of the tunnel and the space left behind were 
used to store rock spoils which reduced the need to expropriate land for above-ground rock spoil heaps.
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Mr. Sun Chenglin (孫成林), aged 52, is the chief coal mine engineer of our Group. He graduated from Shanxi 
Mining Institute (山西礦業學院) in the PRC with a bachelor degree in engineering in 1985. Mr. Sun has over 30 years 
of experience in coal mine engineering. Prior to joining the Group in April 2015, Mr. Sun was the chief engineer of 
Inner Mongolia Yitai Group from 2007 to 2015, responsible for coal mine engineering and management. He assumed 
different positions of Bureau of Coal Industry in Datong City of Shanxi Province in the PRC (中國山西大同市煤炭工業
局) and Inner Mongolia Coal Design Institute (內蒙古煤炭設計院) from 1985 to 2007 for over 20 years.

Mr. Li Yuncheng (李運成), aged 50, is the head of the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine, and is responsible for matters 
concerning routine safety production and operation management of the Dafanpu Coal Mine. He graduated from 
Shanxi Mining Institute (山西礦業學院) in China in 1985 with a bachelor degree in mining construction engineering.

Mr. Li has over 25 years of working experience in coal mining in China. Prior to joining the Group in 2013, Mr. Li 
assumed positions such as deputy head of mine and head of control room in coal mining enterprises in China.

Mr. Shi Qingchun (史慶春), aged 43, is the deputy head of safety of the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine, and is 
responsible for matters concerning safety management, supervision and inspection of the Dafanpu Coal Mine. He 
graduated from Shandong University of Science and Technology (山東科技大學), China in 2007 with a bachelor 
degree in mining engineering. He also obtained the qualification of certified safety engineer in China in 2010.

Mr. Shi has over 20 years of working experience in coal mining in China. Prior to joining the Group in 2011, Mr. Shi 
was the ventilation safety engineer of Jining II Coal Mine of Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited (兗州煤業股份有
限公司濟寧二號煤礦) from 1992 to 2010.

Mr. Zhao Yanguo (趙衍國), aged 49, is the deputy chief geological engineer of the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine, and 
is responsible for geological water prevention and control measures management of the Dafanpu Coal Mine, ensuring 
safety production from geological and technical level. He obtained the qualification of assistant engineer in China in 
2004, intermediate engineer in China in 2007 and senior mining engineer in China in 2012.

Mr. Zhao has over 20 years of working experience in coal mining in China. Prior to joining the Group in 2010, Mr. 
Zhao was responsible for the construction survey work at the oil depot of South Korea’s SK Group in Yeosu, South 
Korea during the period from 2005 to 2007 and also held the positions of underground workforce technical team 
leader, geological survey division leader and survey engineer of engineering department in various coal mining 
enterprises in China like China’s Feicheng Mining Group.

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai Danny (陳國偉), aged 43, has been the company secretary of the Company since 21 August 
2015. Mr. Chan joined our Group in September 2012 and has been primarily responsible for corporate financial 
management. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow of The Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited (the “Company”) hereby presents the 
annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Principal Activities and Business Review

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 27 July 2010 
under the Companies Law (2010 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities of the Group are the extraction and sale 
of coal products. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an 
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and 
Analysis set out on pages 5 to 20 of this Annual Report and forms part of this directors’ report. There were no 
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2016. In 
addition, the Group did not have any important events affecting the Company since the end of the reporting period.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial 
statement.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income on page 77 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 80 and in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements 
respectively.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders in accordance with 
its articles of association amounted to approximately RMB1,026,145,000 (2015: RMB1,033,505,000). In addition, on 
28 March 2017, the Board of Directors proposed a special dividend of HK$0.02 per share out of the share premium 
account of the company, payable to shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the register of members 
of the Company on 18 May 2017. The total amount of the special dividend will amount to an aggregate amount of 
HK$168,600,000 and will be paid in cash on 29 May 2017. The proposal for the distribution of special dividend in 
share premium account is subject to the approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Bank loans and Other Borrowings

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2016 are set out in notes 22 and 23 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the Company are set out in note 26 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and there are no restrictions 
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a 
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31 December 2016 attributable to the Group’s major 
customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
  — the largest customer 27.7%
  — five largest customers in aggregate 75.8%

Purchases
  — the largest supplier 10.5%
  — five largest suppliers in aggregate 35.9%

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as defined under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)), or, to the best knowledge of the Directors, no 
shareholder of the Company which owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in 
any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the period from 31 December 2012 to 31 
December 2016 are set out on page 128 of this annual report.
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Directors

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2016 are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Li (Chairman)
Mr. Gu Jianhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Zhang Lin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Liu Peilian
Ms. Xue Hui (appointed on 22 April 2016)
Mr. Zheng Ercheng 
Mr. Shi Xiaoyu  (resigned on 22 April 2016) (Note 1)

Note 1:	 On 22 April 2016, Mr. Shi Xiaoyu resigned as the Company’s independent non-executive Director in order to devote more time to his personal 

commitments with effect from 22 April 2016 and Ms. Xue Hui was appointed as the Company’s independent non-executive Director on the 

same date.

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Gu Jianhua, Mr. Zheng Ercheng and 
Ms. Liu Peilian will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years, which 
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The non-executive and independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a term of three years in 
accordance with their respective letters of appointment with the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service 
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all the independent non-executive 
Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.



Annual Report 2016 49

Directors’ ReportDirectors’ Report

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts 

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, 
any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding company was a party and in which a Director of the Company 
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the year ended 31 December 2016 or at any time 
during the year.

Continuing Connected Transactions

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2016 is 
contained in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. As disclosed in note 22(a) to the consolidated financial 
statements, Mr. Zhang Li gave financial guarantees to several banks for certain banking facilities of the Group. These 
transactions fall under the definition of continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules but are exempt 
from the shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no transactions required to be disclosed by the Company under the relevant 
requirements of Chapter 14A under the Listing Rules during the reporting period. The Company confirms that it has 
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they 
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be and were recorded in 
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the“Model Code”) as 
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the CompanyLong position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Directors Capacity/Type of interest
Number of

ordinary shares

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding 

(Note 1)
    

Mr. Zhang Li Beneficial Interests 755,626,000 8.96%
Interest of spouse (Note 2) 2,800,000 0.03%

Madam Liao Dong Fen Beneficial Interests 2,800,000 0.03%
Interest of spouse (Note 2) 755,626,000 8.96%

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Interest in a controlled 
  corporation (Note 3)

5,307,450,000 62.96%

King Lok Holdings Limited Beneficial interests (Note 3) 5,307,450,000 62.96%
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures (Cont’d)

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company (Cont’d)Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company (Cont’d)

Notes:

1.	 The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary shares of 8,430,000,000 shares as at 31 December 2016.

2.	 Madam Liao Dong Fen is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Li. Accordingly, under the SFO, Mr. Zhang Li is deemed to be interested in her long position 

of 2,800,000 shares in the Company, whereas Madam Liao Dong Fen is deemed to be interested in Mr. Zhang Li’s long position of 755,626,000 

shares in the Company.

3.	 King Lok Holdings Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson is therefore deemed to 

be interested in the ordinary shares held by King Lok Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or any 
of their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which 
were required to be entered in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2016 was the Company, its subsidiaries, its associate, its fellow 
subsidiaries or its holding company a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executive of the 
Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the 
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the SFO).

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

As at 31 December 2016, Mr. Zhang Li, the Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company, had controlling 
equity interests in an entity which is engaged in coal mining business. The entity has an untapped coal mine with an 
exploration area of 12.48 km2 located in Guizhou Province, the PRC. Moreover, Mr. Zhang Li also had a 85% interest 
in an anthracite coal mine (Yangmei Longtai Coal Mine) in Guizhou Province, the PRC. Based on the information 
available to the Group, Yangmei Longtai Coal Mine is still in the process of obtaining a mining permit and 
construction has not yet commenced.

For further background information of the Yangmei Longtai Coal Mine, please refer to the section headed 
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Competition — Excluded Business” of the prospectus of the Company 
dated 13 March 2012 (the “Prospectus”).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) has any 
interest in a business apart from the business of the Group which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or 
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Deed of Non-Competition

Each of the Company’s controlling shareholders and Mr. Zhang Li have confirmed to the Company of his/its 
compliance with the non-competition undertakings given to the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition as 
defined in the Prospectus.

King Lok Holdings Limited, Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Zhang Li (the “Covenantors”) have entered into a deed 
of non-competition dated 9 March 2012 in favour of the Company and its subsidiaries, pursuant to which each of the 
Covenantors has undertaken that it/he and its/his respective associates (other than any members of the Group) will 
not carry on, engage, invest, participate or otherwise be interested in or acquire or hold any restricted business unless 
such restricted business has first been offered or made available to the Group, and the Group, after review and 
approval by an independent Board committee of the Company comprising only of independent non-executive 
Directors who do not have a material interest in such restricted business, has declined to pursue such opportunity.

The Directors are of the view that the measures in place are sufficient to safeguard the interests of the Company and 
its shareholders against any competition issues or potential competition issues.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has approved and adopted a share option scheme on 6 March 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”). 
After the listing, the employees of the Group may be granted share options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. 
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(a)	 Purpose(a)	 Purpose

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide incentives to participants to contribute to the 
Company through the grant of option(s) to subscribe for the Company’s shares (“Options”) and to enable the 
Company to recruit high caliber employees and attract or retain talents that are valuable to the Group.

(b)	 Maximum number of shares(b)	 Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all the options to be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company (if any) shall not in aggregate exceed 
10% of the shares in issue (i.e. a maximum of 843,000,000 shares) as at the listing date, provided that:

(i)	 the maximum number of shares may be increased or “refreshed”, with the approval of the shareholders 
in a general meeting, up to a maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of 
such shareholders’ approval, inclusive of the maximum number of shares in respect of which options may 
be granted under another scheme, if any;

(ii)	 the Company may obtain a separate approval from the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting to 
permit the granting of Options which will result in the number of shares in respect of all the Options 
granted exceeding the then maximum number of shares provided that such Options are granted only to 
share option scheme participants specifically identified by the Company before shareholders’ approval is 
sought (in which case such Options granted shall not be counted towards the then applicable maximum 
number of shares); and

(iii)	 the total maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options 
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other options granted and yet to 
be exercised under another scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company 
from time to time.
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Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)

(b)	 Maximum number of shares (Cont’d)(b)	 Maximum number of shares (Cont’d)

As at the date of this annual report, a total of 843,000,000 shares (representing 10% of the existing issued 
share capital of the Company) may be issued upon exercise of all Options which may be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme.

(c)	 Maximum entitlement of each participant(c)	 Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting (with the relevant participant and his associates 
abstaining from voting), no participant shall be granted an Option if the total number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of the Options granted and to be granted to such participant in any 12-month period up 
to the date of the latest grant would exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an Option to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (other than a 
proposed independent non-executive Director) of the Company or any of their respective associates must be 
approved by the independent non-executive Directors.

Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any of 
their respective associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already 
granted and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i)	 representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and

(ii)	 having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of 
HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders. All connected persons of the Company 
must abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting.

(d)	 Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance of the offer(d)	 Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance of the offer

Any offer of the grant of an Option may be accepted within 28 days from the date upon which the offer is 
made and the amount payable on acceptance of such offer is HK$1.0.

(e)	 Minimum holding period, vesting and performance target(e)	 Minimum holding period, vesting and performance target

On and subject to the terms of the share option scheme, the Board may in its absolute discretion grant an 
Option to any participant subject to such conditions (including but not limited to imposition of any vesting and 
performance target(s) and/or minimum holding period) as the Board may think fit.
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Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)

(f)	 Subscription price(f)	 Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any Option shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to a share 
option scheme participant (subject to any adjustments made pursuant to the terms and conditions of the share 
option scheme) which shall be the higher of:

(i)	 the closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotations 
sheet on the relevant offer date, which must be a trading day, in respect of such Option;

(ii)	 the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the relevant offer date in respect of 
such Options; or

(iii)	 the nominal value of the shares.

(g)	 Ranking of shares(g)	 Ranking of shares

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject to all the provisions of the articles of 
association for the time being in force and will rank pari passu with the fully paid shares in issue on the date of 
allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate in all dividends and other distributions paid or 
made on or after the date of allotment other than any dividend or other distribution previously declared or 
recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record date therefor shall be before the date of allotment.

A share issued upon the exercise of an Option shall not carry voting rights until the registration of the grantee 
(or any other person) as the holder thereof.

(h)	 Life of Share Option Scheme(h)	 Life of Share Option Scheme

Subject to relevant terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for 
a period of 10 years commencing on the adoption date of 6 March 2012, after which period no further Options 
will be offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent 
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any Options granted prior thereto or otherwise as maybe required in 
accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, no option was granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and 
Underlying Shares

So far as known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2016, the persons or 
corporations who had interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in 
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the CompanyLong position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of
substantial shareholders Capacity/Type of interest

Number of
ordinary shares

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding 

(Note 1)
    

Mr. Zhang Li Beneficial Interests 755,626,000 8.96%
Interest of spouse (Note 2) 2,800,000 0.03%

Madam Liao Dong Fen Beneficial Interests 2,800,000 0.03%
Interest of spouse (Note 2) 755,626,000 8.96%

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Interest in a controlled 
  corporation (Note 3)

5,307,450,000 62.96%

King Lok Holdings Limited Beneficial interests (Note 3) 5,307,450,000 62.96%

Notes:

1.	 The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary shares of 8,430,000,000 shares as at 31 December 2016.

2.	 Madam Liao Dong Fen is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Li. Accordingly, under the SFO, Mr. Zhang Li is deemed to be interested in her long position 

of 2,800,000 shares in the Company, whereas Madam Liao Dong Fen is deemed to be interested in Mr. Zhang Li’s long position of 755,626,000 

shares in the Company.

3.	 King Lok Holdings Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson is therefore deemed to 

be interested in the ordinary shares held by King Lok Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Directors and chief executive of the Company were not aware 
of any other person or corporation having an interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or a substantial part of the business of the 
Group were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the year ended 31 December 2016, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

Details of the retirement benefits schemes participated by the Group are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the directors and senior management of the Company are set out on pages 40 to 45 of this annual 
report.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance 
Report (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that the Company is 
in compliance with the mandatory code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2016.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages 57 to 70 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is 
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s issued shares throughout the year ended 31 December 
2016 and up to the date of this annual report.

Indemnity of directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit 
of the directors of the Company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

Closure of Register of Members for Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Company for the year ended will be held on 10 May 2017. The register of 
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 5 May 2017 to Wednesday, 10 May 2017, both days inclusive, 
during which period no share transfers will be effected. In order to determine the identity of the shareholders who are 
entitled to attend the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by 
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 4 May 2017.
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Closure of Register of Members for Special Dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16 May 2017 to Thursday, 18 May 2017 (both 
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered for the purpose of determining 
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed Special Dividend. To qualify for the Special Dividend, all share transfer 
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch 
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 15 May 2017.

Environmental and Social Responsibility

In addition to focusing on the development and operational efficiency of the Dafanpu Coal Mine, we also strive to 
build a first-class, large and modern mine which is “safe, environmentally friendly, energy saving, green, highly 
efficient”. We implemented a number of internal policies to fulfill our social responsibility towards the environment, 
our employees and the local communities. Further discussion and analysis in respect of environmental and social 
perspective as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in the “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report set out on pages 21 to 39 of this Annual Report and forms part of this directors’ report.

During the reporting period, we complied with applicable environmental laws or regulations. We are committed to 
conducting our operations in a manner that complies with applicable environmental laws and regulations, and we 
endeavour to mitigate the adverse impact of our operations to the environment. Production in the Dafanpu Coal Mine 
is subject to environmental laws and regulations relating to air and water emissions, hazardous substances and waste 
management. We have fulfilled our commitment to the environment through the establishment of environmental 
protection systems, facilities and measures.

Auditors

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2016, Ernst & Young were appointed by the Board 
to act as the auditors of the Company following the retirement of KPMG, and to hold office until the conclusion of 
the next annual general meeting of the Company. Save as disclosed above, there have been no other changes of 
auditors in the past three years. 

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s auditors will be proposed for 
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Li
Chairman

28 March 2017
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Corporate Governance Practices

As the Company believes that good corporate governance can create value for the shareholders of the Company, the 
Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices by putting strong emphasis on 
a quality board of Directors, sound internal controls and effective accountability to the shareholders as a whole.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code 
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as its 
own code of corporate governance. 

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices to ensure that it complies with the CG Code 
and align with the latest developments.

Directors’ and Relevant Employees’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing 
Rules”) as its own code for securities transactions by the Directors.

On 1 August 2016, our Chairman inadvertently purchased shares during the black-out period for the publication of 
the Company’s interim results for the six month period ended 30 June 2016 which constituted a non-compliance of 
the Model Code. The Company immediately took remedial steps to address such non-compliance including imposing 
stricter measures to ensure that similar incidents will not recur and also requiring its directors to attend training and 
updates on the Model Code, Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Save as disclosed above, all Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they have 
fully complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Group are also subject to 
compliance with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code. 
Each of the relevant employees has been given a copy of the written guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the relevant employees was brought to the attention of the 
Company.

The Board of Directors

Responsibilities of the BoardResponsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers under the memorandum and articles of association of the 
Company for, the leadership and oversight of the Company’s management and performance and the formulation and 
review of the Group’s overall policies and strategies. Moreover, the Board is also responsible for performing corporate 
governance duties, including the (i) development and review of the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 
governance; and (ii) review of the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosure in the 
corporate governance report.
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Responsibilities of the Board (Cont’d)Responsibilities of the Board (Cont’d)

All major decisions, including but not limited to those decisions affecting the finances and shareholders of the 
Company, such as financial statements, business acquisitions, major transactions and dividend policies, are made by 
the Board as a whole. Each Director is aware of his or her fiduciary duties and duties and responsibilities as a director 
under the Listing Rules, the CG Code and applicable laws and regulations; and has acted objectively for the benefit 
and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the senior management through executive Directors. The day-to-day 
management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and an independent 
senior management team. The senior management team is also responsible for the supervision and execution of the 
Group’s business plans. The Board reviews periodically the performance of the senior management team.

Certain functions and responsibilities are delegated to committees established by the Board. For details, please refer 
to the sub-sections headed “Audit Committee”, “Remuneration Committee” and “Nomination Committee” below.

Composition of the BoardComposition of the Board

As at 31 December 2016, the Board comprises of three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three 
independent non-executive Directors whose names are listed below. Each member of the Board brings a wide 
spectrum of valuable experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Li (Chairman) 	 (Note 1)
Mr. Gu Jianhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson	 (Note 1)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Zhang Lin	 (Note 1)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Liu Peilian
Mr. Zheng Ercheng
Ms. Xue Hui (appointed on 22 April 2016)
Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (resigned on 22 April 2016)

Note 1:	 Mr. Zhang Li is the father of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and the brother of Ms. Zhang Lin.

Except for the familial relationship between Mr. Zhang Li, Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Ms. Zhang Lin as disclosed 
above, there is no financial, business, family or other relevant relationship between the Directors.
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Composition of the Board (Cont’d)Composition of the Board (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to 
have at least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board with at least one 
of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Having considered the factors for assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules and the written annual confirmations from each independent non-executive Director, the Board 
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the 
Listing Rules. A list of the Company’s Directors identifying their roles and functions is also available on the Company’s 
website at www.kineticme.com and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Terms of Appointment of DirectorsTerms of Appointment of Directors

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract for a term of three years. The 
appointment may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either the relevant Director 
or the Company.

Non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors

The non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors of the Company were all appointed by the 
Company for terms of three years.

Nomination, Appointment, Re-election and Removal Procedures

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles 
of association. Every Director is subject to the provisions of retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any 
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the 
Company after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

The nomination committee of the Board has been established with effect from the listing date (i.e. 23 March 2012) to 
review the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually to ensure that the Board has a balance of 
expertise, skills and experience appropriate to meet the requirements of the Company. This committee will identify 
individuals who are qualified or suitable for directorship, assess their qualifications, skills, prior experience, character 
and other relevant aspects, including but not limited to their independence in the case of an independent non-
executive Director candidate, and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of 
Directors or the filling of casual vacancies on the Board or any other proposed changes to the Board to complement 
the Company’s corporate strategies. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Nomination Committee” below for more 
details on the nomination committee of the Board.
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Board Practices and Conduct of MeetingsBoard Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for Board meetings, with notices of regular Board 
meetings served to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. Directors are allowed to seek independent 
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Directors are encouraged to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and to voice out their views and 
concerns. Directors are supplied with sufficient information and given sufficient time for discussion to ensure that 
Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

Whenever there is a potential conflict of interest, the matter is considered during a physical board meeting at which 
disinterested independent non-executive Directors are present and, if such interest is material, the interested 
Director(s) shall declare the nature of his or her or their interest in accordance with the Company’s articles of 
association and will not vote or be counted in the quorum or any resolution of the Board in respect of the relevant 
contract or arrangement unless so authorised by the Company’s articles of association. Each of Mr. Zhang Li, Mr. 
Zhang Liang, Johnson and Ms. Zhang Lin has undertaken that if a conflict of interest situation arises in respect of any 
of them, they shall (i) not vote or be counted in the quorum of any resolution of the Board unless so authorised by the 
Company’s articles of association, (ii) refrain from being present during the relevant discussions at Board meetings and 
(iii) play no part in the decision-making process of the Board.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees containing sufficient detail of the matters considered 
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed, are sent to each Director for their 
review, comment and records within a reasonable time after each meeting. Final versions of such minutes are kept by 
the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection by Directors upon reasonable notice.

Directors’ Attendance RecordsDirectors’ Attendance Records

During the year ended 31 December 2016, four physical Board meetings were held at which the Directors reviewed 
and approved, among other things, (i) the annual results and report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2015; (ii) the quarterly results of the Group for the three months ended 31 March 2016; (iii) the interim results and 
report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2016; and (iv) quarterly results of the Group for the nine 
months ended 30 September 2016.
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Directors’ Attendance Records (Cont’d)Directors’ Attendance Records (Cont’d)

The attendance records of individual Directors at the aforementioned Board meetings and at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting held on 31 May 2016 are set out below:

          Attendance/Number of Meetings
(Board

Meetings)
(Annual General

Meeting)
   

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Li (Chairman) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Gu Jianhua (Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson 2/4 0/1

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Zhang Lin 4/4 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Liu Peilian 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zheng Ercheng 4/4 1/1
Ms. Xue Hui (Note 1) 3/4 1/1
Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (Note 2) 1/4 0/1

Note 1:	 Appointed on 22 April 2016

Note 2: 	 Resigned on 22 April 2016

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company have 
been carried out by different individuals.

The Chairman of the Company is responsible for the Group’s overall business strategy and corporate development 
and the identification of potential acquisition targets. The Chairman approves the agenda for, and chairs, Board 
meetings to ensure that all key and appropriate issues are discussed in a timely manner, including any matters 
proposed by other Directors. He is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board, including but not limited to 
taking steps to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings, providing all Directors 
with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable in a timely manner, communicating 
shareholders’ views to the Board as a whole and promoting a culture of openness and constructive debate during 
Board meetings.

The Chief Executive Officer of the Company is responsible for the Group’s overall management and operations. He 
works primarily with the senior management and ensures that any major strategic, corporate or management 
decisions made by the Board are communicated to and implemented by the senior management.
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Audit CommitteeAudit Committee

The audit committee of the Board was established with effect from the listing date in compliance with Rule 3.21 of 
the Listing Rules. It is responsible for ensuring that the Company has an effective financial reporting and internal 
control system in compliance with the Listing Rules, overseeing the integrity of the financial statements of the 
Company (including the review of the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and internal control system), selecting 
and assessing the independence and qualifications of the Company’s external auditors and ensuring effective 
communication between the Directors and external auditors. The audit committee consists of three members 
(including one non-executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors), namely, Ms. Liu Peilian 
(Chairman of the committee), who possess the appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related financial 
management expertise, Mr. Zheng Ercheng and Ms. Zhang Lin. The written terms of reference of this committee has 
been made available on the Company’s website at www.kineticme.com and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The audit committee held three physical meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016. In these three meetings, 
the audit committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, (i) the accuracy and fairness of Group’s annual 
results for the year ended 31 December 2015 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2016; and (ii) the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

The attendance records of individual audit committee members at the aforementioned audit committee meetings are 
set out below:

Name of audit committee member
Attendance/

Number of Meetings
  

Ms. Liu Peilian (Chairman) 3/3
Ms. Zhang Lin 3/3
Mr. Zheng Ercheng 3/3

The external auditors were invited to attend the meetings without the presence of the executive Directors to discuss 
with the audit committee members about issues relating to the audit and financial reporting matters. An audit 
committee meeting was also held on 28 March 2017 to consider and review, among other things, the Group’s annual 
results and annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016. It was attended by Ms. Liu Peilian, Mr. Zheng 
Ercheng and Ms. Zhang Lin.
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Remuneration CommitteeRemuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board was established with effect from the listing date in accordance with the 
code provisions of the CG Code. It is responsible for assisting the Board in determining the policy and structure for the 
remuneration of Directors and senior management, assessing the performance of executive directors, reviewing 
incentive schemes and the terms of the Directors’ service contracts and fixing the remuneration packages for executive 
Directors and senior management. The remuneration committee consists of three members (including one non-
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors), namely, Ms. Xue Hui (Chairman of the committee), 
Ms. Liu Peilian and Ms. Zhang Lin. The written terms of reference of this committee has been made available on the 
Company’s website at www.kineticme.com and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22 April 2016, Mr. Shi Xiaoyu has resigned as the Company’s 
independent non-executive Director, chairman of remuneration committee and member of nomination committee 
with effect from 22 April 2016 and Ms. Xue Hui has been appointed as the Company’s independent non-executive 
Director, chairman of remuneration committee and member of nomination committee on the same date.

The remuneration committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual 
executive Directors and senior management. The remuneration committee held one physical meeting during the year 
ended 31 December 2016. In the meeting, the remuneration committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, 
the remuneration of the executive Directors.

The attendance records of individual remuneration committee members at the aforementioned remuneration 
committee meeting are set out below:

Name of remuneration committee member
Attendance/

Number of Meeting
  

Ms. Xue Hui (Chairman) (Note 1) 1/1
Ms. Liu Peilian 1/1
Ms. Zhang Lin 1/1
Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (Note 2) 0/1

Note 1: 	 Appointed on 22 April 2016

Note 2:	 Resigned on 22 April 2016
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Nomination CommitteeNomination Committee

The Board has established a nomination committee with effect from the listing date, in compliance with the code 
provisions of the CG Code, responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of directors, identifying and 
recommending to the Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors, evaluating the structure and composition 
of the Board and developing, recommending to the Board and monitoring nomination guidelines for the Company. 
The nomination committee consists of three members, namely (including one executive Director and two 
independent non-executive Directors), Mr. Zhang Li (Chairman of the committee), Mr. Zheng Ercheng and Ms. Xue 
Hui. The written terms of reference of this committee has been made available on the Company’s website at 
www.kineticme.com and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22 April 2016, Mr. Shi Xiaoyu has resigned as the Company’s 
independent non-executive Director, chairman of remuneration committee and member of nomination committee 
with effect from 22 April 2016 and Ms. Xue Hui has been appointed as the Company’s independent non-executive 
Director, chairman of remuneration committee and member of nomination committee on the same date.

The nomination committee held one physical meeting during the year ended 31 December 2016. In the meeting, the 
nomination committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, (i) the existing structure, size and composition of 
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the 
Group’s business and that it is in compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules; and (ii) the 
recommendation on re-election of retiring Directors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The attendance records of individual nomination committee members at the aforementioned nomination committee 
meeting are set out below:

Name of nomination committee member
Attendance/

Number of Meeting
  

Mr. Zhang Li (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Zheng Ercheng 1/1
Ms. Xue Hui (appointed on 22 April 2016) 1/1
Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (resigned on 22 April 2016) 0/1
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company continued to monitor Board composition with regard to its 
diversity policy which require board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of 
diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of diversity perspectives, 
including but not limited to age, gender, experience, race, geographical/cultural background and personal attributes. 
The nomination committee has developed measurable objectives to implement the board diversity policy and it would 
continue to monitor the progress in achieving these objectives.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The amount of fees charged by the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, in respect of their audit services  and 
non-audit services including interim result review for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to approximately 
RMB1.2 million and RMB0.7 million, respectively.

The Company Secretary

The company secretary plays a role in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board and 
also that Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is responsible for advising the Board 
through the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer on governance matters and should also facilitate induction 
and professional development of Directors. Specific enquiry has been made to the company secretary of the 
Company, Mr. Chan Kwok Wai Danny (“Mr. Chan”), and Mr. Chan has confirmed that he complies with the relevant 
qualifications, experience and training requirements under the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance for its Directors and senior management during 
the year ended 31 December 2016. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for 
any legal action against them arising out of corporate activities.
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Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills by attending training and by reading materials in 
relation to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director and the latest developments in the relevant 
rules and regulations.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code for the year ended 31 
December 2016 and they participated in the following types of continuous professional development:

Type of continuous
professional development

  

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Li (I), (II)
Mr. Gu Jianhua (I), (II)
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (I), (II)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Zhang Lin (I), (II)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Liu Peilian (I), (II)
Mr. Zheng Ercheng (I), (II)
Ms. Xue Hui (appointed on 22 April 2016) (I), (II)
Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (resigned on 22 April 2016) (II)

(I):	 Attending seminars.

(II):	 Reading materials in relation to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director and the latest developments in the relevant rules and 

regulations.

Investor Communications and Shareholders’ Rights

The Company considers timely communication to shareholders and/or investors and transparent reporting as key 
components of good corporate governance.

The Company aims to maintain frequent and timely communication with its shareholders and/or investors through a 
variety of communication channels, including but not limited to general meetings, annual and interim reports and 
official announcements. General meetings provide a platform for shareholders to exchange views with the Board and 
the Directors are available to answer questions at the Company’s Annual General Meetings. Shareholders will be sent 
a copy of the annual and interim reports or be notified of the release of such reports. Annual and interim reports are 
accessible on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website at www.kineticme.com, where general 
information on the Group’s business and activities is available for public access. Official announcements will be 
released from time to time in accordance with the Listing Rules to update our shareholders and/or investors with the 
latest developments of the Group.
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Voting at general meetings of the Company is conducted by way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll 
results will be announced at general meetings and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company, respectively.

Pursuant to Clause 64 of the Company’s existing articles of association, one or more shareholders holding, at the date 
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right to vote at 
general meetings may deposit a written requisition (the “Written Requisition”) to the Board or the company secretary 
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 
business specified in the Written Requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of the 
Written Requisition if the requisition is confirmed as proper and valid. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails 
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all 
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the 
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders and investors are also welcomed to submit any enquiries to the Board and suggestions or proposals at 
general meetings directly to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong as provided in the section 
“Corporate Information” in this annual report.

Constitutional Documents

There has been no change to the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Accountability

The Directors have included a management discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 
December 2016 under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group. The systems play an important role in maintaining and improving accountability and 
transparency in the conduct of the Group’s business and are designed for the Group to identify and manage the 
significant risks to achieve its business objectives, safeguard the interests of the Company’s shareholders, ensure 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and assists in enhancing investor’s confidence. The risk management 
and internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.

The Company’s Internal Audit Department (the “IA Department”) performs internal audit function and the Board is 
responsible for overseeing and reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group on an ongoing basis.
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Risk Management and Internal Control SystemsRisk Management and Internal Control Systems

The risk management and internal control systems of the Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against all 
risk issues. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification, assessment and mitigation of risk at all 
business unit levels and across all functional areas.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risksProcess used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Audit Committee is responsible for identifying the risk of the Group and 
deciding on the risk levels and the Board is responsible for assessing and determining the nature and extent of the 
risks that are acceptable to the Group when achieving its strategic objectives. After discussing and taking into 
consideration the risk response, the relevant departments and business units shall be assigned to implement the risk 
management solutions in accordance with their respective roles and responsibilities. The identified risk together with 
the risk response will be recorded at the risk register and subject to the Board’s oversight.

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control SystemsMain features of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company include the establishment of 
a risk register to keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of risks, the development 
and continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure 
their effectiveness.

An ongoing risk assessment approach is adopted by the Company for identifying and assessing the key inherent risks 
that affect the achievement of its objectives. The judgement of the risk is mainly determined in accordance with the 
likelihood of occurrence and consequence of occurrence of the risk, which can be categorized into 3 classes, 
classifying the degree of risk impact as: Minor (1), Moderate (2) and Significant (3), and the probability of occurrence 
of risk as: Unlikely (1), Possible (2) and Likely (3). The risk degrees reflect the level of management’s attention and risk 
treatment effort required.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk Management & Internal Control Systems Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk Management & Internal Control Systems 
and to resolve material internal control defectsand to resolve material internal control defects

The IA Department has performed two reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems respectively covering the period from 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 to 31 
December 2016 in compliance with the requirements under Code Provision C.2 of the CG Code, according to the 
scope of review agreed and approved by the Audit Committee covering the Group’s material controls in financial, 
operational and compliance aspects. IA Department reported directly to the Audit Committee and the Audit 
Committee is satisfied that there has been no major deficiency noted in the areas of the Company’s risk management 
and internal controls systems being reviewed after implementation of recommendations of the internal control defects 
reported by IA Department. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk management and internal control systems to 
be effective and have been implemented with adequate resources.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside informationProcedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information

The Board has established the Inside Information Policy for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The 
Inside Information Policy stipulates the obligations of the Group, restriction on sharing non-public information, 
handling of rumours, unintentional selective disclosure, exemptions and waiver to the disclosure of inside information, 
external communication guidelines and compliance and reporting procedures. Management of the Company must 
take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a 
disclosure requirement in relation to the Company. They must promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of 
inside information to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer who will notify the Board as soon as reasonably 
practicable accordingly for taking the appropriate prompt action. In the event that there is evidence of any material 
violation of the Inside Information Policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course 
of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding the likelihood of its recurrence.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2016 and confirm that the financial statements contained herein give a true and fair view of the results 
and state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The Directors consider that the financial statements have 
been prepared in conformity with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and reflect amounts which are based on best 
estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the Board. Such acknowledgement should be read in 
conjunction with, but be distinguished from, the statement of the external auditors of the Company, Ernst & Young, 
in relation to their reporting responsibilities as set out in their auditor’s report on pages 71 to 76 of this annual report. 
The Directors are also responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Going ConcernGoing Concern

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had net current liabilities of RMB592,511,000. The Group’s ability to repay its 
debts when they fall due heavily relies on its future operating cashflow and its ability to renew the bank loans.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have carefully assessed the Group’s liquidity position having taken 
into account (i) the estimated operating cash inflows of the Group for the next twelve months from the end of the 
current reporting period; (ii) the revolving bank facilities of RMB700,000,000 which will not expire until November 
2017, and (iii) an undertaking of Mr. Zhang Li, a shareholder and director of the Company, to provide financial 
support to the Group and to provide personal guarantees for any new loan facilities when necessary. Together with 
the fact that part of the bank loans are secured by pledge of the Group’s assets, the directors of the Company 
consider that it is highly probable that the bank loans can be renewed in the next twelve months.

On the basis of the above considerations, the directors of the Company believe that the Group can satisfy its financial 
obligations in the foreseeable future and accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis.

Senior Management Remuneration by Band

The remuneration of the Company’s senior management, whose biographies are set out on pages 44 to 45 of this 
annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out below:

Number of Individuals
  

Remuneration band (in RMB)
RMBnil–RMB1,000,000 7
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安永會計師事務所
香港中環添美道1號
中信大廈22樓

Tel 電話: +852 2846 9888
Fax 傳真: +852 2868 4432
ey.com

Ernst & Young
22/F CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address 
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Carrying values and impairment assessment of mining rights and property, plant and equipment

The carrying values of the Group’s mining rights and 
property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) as at 31 
December 2016 were in total HK$1,899 million 
(representing 86% of the total assets) and the related 
amortisation and depreciation charges for the year ended 
31 December 2016 were approximately HK$130 million 
(representing 67% of profit before taxation). 
Management has reviewed the amortisation and 
depreciation rates and the carrying values of mining 
rights and PPE by taking into consideration factors such 
as changes in competitive landscape, current and 
forecasted market prices of coal, production volumes, 
coal reserves and discount rates which may affect the 
recoverable amounts and the useful life expectancy of 
the assets and therefore could have a material impact on 
any impairment charges or the amortisation and 
depreciation charges for the year. We focused on this 
area because of its significance to the consolidated 
financial statements and the involvement of a significant 
degree of judgement by management in considering the 
nature, timing and likelihood of changes to the factors 
noted above which may affect both the carrying values of 
the Group’s mining rights and PPE as well as the 
amortisation and depreciation charges for the current 
and future years.

Please refer to notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 16 to the financial 
statements for the related disclosures of accounting 
policies, accounting judgements and estimates and the 
balances of PPE and mining rights.

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the 
impairment assessment performed by management 
and evaluate the amortisation and depreciation rates 
applied by the Group for mining rights and PPE that 
used units-of-production method, with reference to 
the coal reserves, market demand as well as 
management’s plans for future mine production.

We reviewed the process of management to identify 
the indicators of possible impairment of mining rights 
and PPE. In assessing the estimate of future cash 
flows, which were used to determine the recoverable 
amounts of such assets, we tested the basis of 
preparing those forecasts taking into account the 
accuracy of previous forecasts and the historical 
evidence supporting the underlying assumptions. We 
also checked the recent developments in the mining 
industry, with reference to external sources and 
management’s future operating plans. We assessed 
the reliability of the previous coal reserves report by 
comparing it with actual mining results and reviewing 
management’s annual reassessment. We assessed the 
discount rate used to discount the estimated future 
cash flows by comparing it to the industry index.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Deferred tax assets

The Group recorded deferred tax assets in the financial 
statements resulting from deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses carried forward as 
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements. The 
Group recognised these deferred tax assets to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will allow 
the deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
losses to be utilised. The probability of utilisation is 
subject to uncertainties regarding the likely timing and 
level of future taxable profits, together with tax planning 
strategies and the expiry date of unused tax losses. The 
estimation process is complex and involves subjective 
elements on the assumptions such as the estimation of 
forecasted margins from the mining operation and the 
related taxable results based on expectations regarding 
future economic and mining market developments.

Please refer to notes 3 and 24 to the financial statements 
for the related disclosures of significant accounting 
estimates and the recognition of deferred tax assets.

Our audit procedures, among others, included the 
assessment of the Group’s internal controls over the 
recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets 
and the assessment of assumptions used in projecting 
the Group’s future taxable profits in relevant 
jurisdictions. We evaluated the forecasted taxable 
profits that underpin the recognition of the deferred 
tax assets, in particular the taxable profits of the Inner 
Mongolia and Qinhuangdao businesses. We obtained 
an understanding of the income sources supporting 
the future taxable profits and sample checked to 
externally available data, such as economic forecasts, 
and the Group’s historical data. We assessed the 
sensitivity of the outcomes to reasonably possible 
changes in the assumptions. We also compared the 
assumptions used in projecting the future taxable 
profits to those used in the impairment assessment of 
mining rights and PPE for consistency. For any 
restriction on unused tax losses, we checked to the 
relevant tax documents and regulations.

Additionally, we reviewed the Group’s disclosures 
regarding recognised and unrecognised deferred tax 
assets.

Key audit matters (Cont’d)
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
(Cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
(Cont’d)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
28 March 2017
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Year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

REVENUE 5 1,051,457 1,176,041
Cost of sales (750,342) (1,047,584)
    

Gross profit 301,115 128,457

Other income 5 16,157 3,519
Selling expenses (5,710) (6,375)
Administrative expenses (63,513) (62,326)
    

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 248,049 63,275

Share of profits of an associate 5,394 14,158
Finance costs 7 (60,355) (79,989)
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 6 193,088 (2,556)

Income tax (expense)/credit 10 (54,982) 454
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 138,106 (2,102)
  ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Other comprehensive income for the year that may be 
  reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of 
  operations outside Mainland China 333 855
    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 138,439 (1,247)
    

Attributable to:
  Owners of the Company 138,439 (1,247)
    

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable 
  to owners of the Company (RMB cents) 12 1.64 (0.02)
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31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,232,019 1,289,771
Land lease prepayments 15 20,844 –
Intangible assets 16 667,092 680,696
Interest in an associate 17 55,216 49,822
Prepayments for non-current assets – 13,721
Deferred tax assets 24 33,371 65,283
    

Total non-current assets 2,008,542 2,099,293
    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 18 50,712 32,022
Trade and other receivables 19 50,339 49,252
Pledged deposits 20 25,101 5,102
Cash at bank and in hand 20 85,742 92,011
    

Total current assets 211,894 178,387
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 21 201,795 275,290
Bank loans 22 579,540 500,000
Other borrowings 23 – 654,918
Income tax payable 23,070 –
    

Total current liabilities 804,405 1,430,208
    

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 592,511 1,251,821
    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,416,031 847,472
    

continued...
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Consolidated Statement of Consolidated Statement of 
Financial PositionFinancial Position (Cont’d) (Cont’d)

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,416,031 847,472
    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrual for reclamation costs 25 2,247 2,120
Bank loans 22 429,993 –
    

Total non-current liabilities 432,240 2,120
    

Net assets 983,791 845,352
    

EQUITY
Share capital 26 54,293 54,293
Reserves 28 929,498 791,059
    

Total equity 983,791 845,352
    

Zhang Li Zhang Lin
Chairman and Executive Director Non-executive Director
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Changes in EquityChanges in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2016

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Other 

reserves

Statutory 

reserves

Exchange 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses

Total 

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 27) (note 28(i)) (note 28(ii)) (note 28(iii))
         

At 1 January 2015 54,293 907,627 141,831 109,695 10,149 (376,996) 846,599

Loss for the year – – – – – (2,102) (2,102)

Other comprehensive income – – – – 855 – 855
         

Total comprehensive 

  income/(loss) for the year – – – – 855 (2,102) (1,247)

Appropriation of maintenance 

  and production funds – – – 95,326 – (95,326) –

Utilisation of maintenance 

  and production funds – – – (199,284) – 199,284 –
         

At 31 December 2015 54,293 907,627 141,831 5,737 11,004 (275,140) 845,352
         

At 1 January 2016 54,293 907,627 141,831 5,737 11,004 (275,140) 845,352

Profit for the year – – – – – 138,106 138,106

Other comprehensive income – – – – 333 – 333
         

Total comprehensive 

  income for the year – – – – 333 138,106 138,439

Transfer to statutory reserves – – – 7,210 – (7,210) –

Appropriation of maintenance 

  and production funds – – – 66,534 – (66,534) –

Utilisation of maintenance 

  and production funds – – – (27,475) – 27,475 –
         

At 31 December 2016 54,293 907,627 141,831 52,006 11,337 (183,303) 983,791
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Cash FlowsCash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash flows from operating activities 20(b) 264,448 206,903
    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 287 223
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (57,354) (91,173)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 90 –
Decrease of restricted cash for 
  purchase of machinery and equipment – 6,628
Additions to land lease prepayments (8,710) –
    

Net cash flows used in investing activities (65,687) (84,322)
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans 1,659,533 500,000
Repayment of bank loans (1,150,000) (1,150,000)
New other borrowings – 650,000
Repayment of other borrowings (654,918) –
Interest paid (59,978) (75,071)
    

Net cash flows used in financing activities (205,363) (75,071)
    

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS (6,602) 47,510
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 92,011 43,646
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 333 855
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 20(a) 85,742 92,011
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NOTES TO the consolidatedNOTES TO the consolidated
FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

1.	 Corporate and group information

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 27 July 
2010 under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised). The Company’s 
registered office address is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108 Cayman 
Islands. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are mainly engaged in the 
extraction and sale of coal products. There has been no significant change in the Group’s principal activities 
during the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is King 
Lok Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

2.1	 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These financial statements 
are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had net current liabilities of RMB592,511,000 (2015: RMB1,251,821,000). 
The Group’s ability to repay its debts when they fall due heavily relies on its future operating cash flows and its 
ability to renew the bank loans.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have carefully assessed the Group’s liquidity position having 
taken into account (i) the estimated operating cash inflows of the Group for the next twelve months from the 
end of the current reporting period; (ii) the revolving bank facilities of RMB700,000,000 which will not expire 
until November 2017, and (iii) an undertaking of Mr. Zhang Li, a shareholder and director of the Company, to 
provide financial support to the Group and to provide personal guarantees for any new loan facilities when 
necessary. Together with the fact that part of the bank loans are secured by pledge of the Group’s assets, the 
directors of the Company consider that it is highly probable that the bank loans can be renewed in the next 
twelve months.

On the basis of the above considerations, the directors of the Company believe that the Group can satisfy its 
financial obligations in the foreseeable future and accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidationBasis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
the Group’s interest in an associate for the year ended 31 December 2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including a 
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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2.1	 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including:

(a)	 the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)	 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of 
the Group. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest 
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences 
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any 
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as 
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities.
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2.2	 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent with those 
followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2015, except for the adoption of new and revised HKFRSs effective as of 1 January 2016, noted 
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
  HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16 and 
  HKAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
  and Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Annual Improvements 2012–2014 Cycle Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not have any significant effect on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

2.3	 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

HKFRS 16 Leases3

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions2

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
  HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
  Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Annual Improvements 
  2014–2016 cycle

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs5

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses1

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
4	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
5	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018, as appropriate
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2.3	 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(Cont’d)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial 
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to 
adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group’s is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a 
more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive 
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information 
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account balances between periods and 
key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under 
HKFRSs. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on 
identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual 
property, and transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more consistent application when 
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard. The Group expects to 
adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, 
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The 
standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At 
the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease 
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40. The 
lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease 
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon 
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future lease payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise 
the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor 
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will 
continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between 
operating leases and finance leases. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 and is currently 
assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption.
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NOTES TO the consolidatedNOTES TO the consolidated
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2.3	 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows 
and non-cash changes. The amendments will result in additional disclosure to be provided in the financial 
statements. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2017.

Amendments to HKAS 12 were issued with the purpose of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for 
unrealised losses related to debt instruments measured at fair value, although they also have a broader 
application for other situations. The amendments clarify that an entity, when assessing whether taxable profits 
will be available against which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax 
law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that 
deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should 
determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery 
of some assets for more than their carrying amounts. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 
January 2017.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a 
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is 
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate 
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of 
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new 
mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for 
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for application now.

2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies

Investments in associatesInvestments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the 
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint 
control over those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s 
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates is included in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been 
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when 
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in 
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. 
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Fair value measurementFair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the 
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an 
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset 
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assetsImpairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 
than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, 
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which it 
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of 
such an impairment loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which it 
arises.

Related partiesRelated parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)	 the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)	 the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group;

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.



Annual Report 2016 89

NOTES TO the consolidatedNOTES TO the consolidated
FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciationProperty, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for 
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in 
accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price 
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is 
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is 
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and 
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with 
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment other than mining structures, to its residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Depreciable life
  

Buildings 30–40 years
Machinery and equipment 5–15 years
Office equipment 5–6 years
Motor vehicles 5–10 years

Mining structures are depreciated on the units of production method based on proved and probable coal 
reserves.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful 
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal 
or retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is 
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, machinery and equipment, and mining structures under 
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the 
direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of 
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and 
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Intangible assetsIntangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible 
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised 
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life are reviewed at least at end of each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an 
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The mining rights are 
amortised using the units-of-production method based on the proved and probable coal reserves in the 
depletion base. The Group’s mining rights are of sufficient duration (or convey a legal right to renew for 
sufficient duration) to enable all reserves to be mined in accordance with current production schedules.

LeasesLeases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal 
title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is 
capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, 
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance 
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant and 
equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The 
finance costs of such leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss so as to provide a 
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted 
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any 
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Land lease prepayments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assetsInvestments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables. When financial assets are 
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in other expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assetsDerecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and 
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont’d)Derecognition of financial assets (Cont’d)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assetsImpairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the 
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a 
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet 
been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying 
amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no 
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or 
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other 
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial liabilitiesFinancial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they 
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 
finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilitiesDerecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instrumentsOffsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

InventoriesInventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average 
cost basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any 
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts 
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within 
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions Provisions 

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end 
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase 
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Obligations for land reclamationObligations for land reclamation

The Group’s obligations for land reclamation consist of spending estimates for underground mines in 
accordance with the PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates its liabilities for final reclamation and mine 
closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash spending for a third party 
to perform the required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted at a discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such 
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The Group records a corresponding asset associated with the liability for final reclamation and mine 
closure. The obligation and corresponding asset are recognised in the period when the Group has such present 
obligation. The asset is depreciated on the units-of-production method over its expected life and the liability is 
accreted to the projected spending date. As changes in estimates occur (such as mine plan revisions, changes in 
estimated costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation activities), the revisions to the 
obligation and corresponding asset are recognised at the appropriate discount rate.

Income taxIncome tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in 
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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Income tax (Cont’d)Income tax (Cont’d)

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting 
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

Government grantsGovernment grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, 
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognitionRevenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)	 from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold; and

(b)	 interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Employee benefitsEmployee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are 
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become 
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully 
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in Mainland China are required to participate in a 
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute a 
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or 
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costsBorrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised 
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs 
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

DividendsDividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Foreign currenciesForeign currencies

The functional currencies of the Company is Hong Kong dollar. These financial statements are presented in RMB 
because it is the currency mainly held by the Group’s subsidiaries to carry out the Group’s business. Each entity 
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the 
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or 
translation of monetary items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4	 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss 
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the 
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or 
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the 
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Company and these subsidiaries are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Group at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss is translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rate for the 
year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
exchange reserve.

3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the 
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JudgementsJudgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences 
or tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgements are required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits 
together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 24 to the financial statements.

Estimation uncertaintyEstimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.
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3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (Cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Coal reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s coal reserves are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate 
amounts because of the subjective judgements involved in developing such information. There are authoritative 
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to be met before estimated coal reserves can be 
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and probable coal reserve estimates are updated on a regular 
basis and have taken into account recent production and technical information about each mine. This change is 
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective basis in related 
depreciation and amortisation rates.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates, these estimates are used in determining 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses. Depreciation and amortisation rates are determined based on 
estimated proved and probable coal reserve quantity (the denominator) and capitalised costs of mining 
structures and mining rights (the numerator). The capitalised cost of mining structures and mining rights are 
depreciated and amortised based on the units of coal produced.

Obligations for land reclamation

The estimation of the liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure involves the estimates of the amount and 
timing for the future cash spending as well as the discount rate used for reflecting current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The Group considers the factors including the 
future production volume and development plan, the geological structure of the mining regions and reserve 
volume to determine the scope, amount and timing of reclamation and mine closure works to be performed. 
Determination of the effect of these factors involves judgements from the Group and the estimated liabilities 
may turn out to be different from the actual expenditure to be incurred. The discount rate used by the Group 
may also be altered to reflect the changes in the market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability, such as change of the borrowing rate and inflation rate in the market. As changes in 
estimates occur (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the 
performance of reclamation activities), the revisions to the obligations will be recognised at the appropriate 
discount rate. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had accrual for reclamation costs amounted to 
RMB2,247,000 (2015: RMB2,120,000).

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of 
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in 
use. For the Group’s non-financial assets, value in use calculation is used to assess impairment. When value in 
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or 
cash-generating unit, using key assumptions such as forecasted market price of coal, production volumes and 
coal reserves, and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. For 
details of the Group’s non-financial assets, please refer to notes 14,15 and 16 to the financial statements.
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4.	 Operating segment information

Management has determined operating segments with reference to the reports reviewed by the chief operating 
decision maker of the Group that are used to assess the performance and allocate resources.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group assesses the performance and allocates the resources of the 
Group as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered to be primarily dependent on the performance 
of the extraction and sale of coal products. Therefore, the Group’s management considers that there is only one 
operating segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating Segments. In this regard, no segment 
information is presented for the year.

No geographic information is shown as the Group’s operating results are entirely derived from its business 
activities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

5.	 Revenue and other income

The principal activities of the Group are the extraction and sale of coal products. Revenue represents the sale 
value of goods supplied to customers, excluding value added taxes or any trade discounts.

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue

Sale of coal products 1,051,457 1,176,041
   

Revenue from major customers amounting to over 10% of the revenue of the Group is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue

Customer A 291,510 N/A
Customer B 246,482 292,413
Customer C 157,362 N/A
Customer D N/A 160,737
Customer E N/A 156,943

Revenue from customers D and E respectively amounted to less than 10% of the revenue of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.



Annual Report 2016 101

NOTES TO the consolidatedNOTES TO the consolidated
FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

5.	 Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Revenue from customers A and C respectively amounted to less than 10% of the revenue of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2015.

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Other income

Government grants 15,780 2,528
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 90 768
Interest income 287 223
   

16,157 3,519
   

6.	 Profit/(loss) before taxation

The Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cost of inventories sold 262,076 335,706
Depreciation 14 116,339 104,334
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 13,604 19,492
Amortisation of land lease prepayments 15 353 –
Auditors’ remuneration 1,884 1,860
Consultancy fee 2,253 2,427

Staff costs (including directors’ and chief executive’s 
  remuneration (note 8)):
  Salaries, wages, bonuses and benefits 99,308 99,645
  Contribution to defined contribution plans 5,818 8,282
    

105,126 107,927
    

Cost of inventories sold for the year ended 31 December 2016 included RMB188,824,000 (2015: 
RMB189,842,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets, which are included 
in the respective amounts disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.
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7.	 Finance costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings 60,355 82,325
   

Less: Interest capitalised – (2,336)
   

60,355 79,989
   

8.	 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rule, section 383(1)
(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Details of directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration are set out below:

Salaries,
allowances Retirement

and benefits Directors’ Discretionary scheme Total
in kind fees bonuses contributions remuneration

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

2016

Executive directors:
  Mr. Zhang Li 3,000 – – – 3,000
  Mr. Gu Jianhua (also the chief executive) 780 – 400 – 1,180
  Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson 3,000 – – – 3,000
      

6,780 – 400 – 7,180
Non-executive director:
  Ms. Zhang Lin – 240 – – 240

Independent non-executive 
  directors:
  Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (i), (ii) – – – – –
  Mr. Liu Peilian – 240 – – 240
  Mr. Zheng Ercheng – 240 – – 240
  Ms. Xue Hui (ii) – 166 – – 166

      

6,780 886 400 – 8,066
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8.	 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (Cont’d)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement

and benefits Director’s Discretionary scheme Total
in kind fees bonuses contributions remuneration

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

2015

Executive directors:
  Mr. Zhang Li 3,000 – – – 3,000
  Mr. Gu Jianhua (also the chief executive) 750 – 1,000 – 1,750
  Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson 3,000 – – – 3,000
      

6,750 – 1,000 – 7,750
Non-executive director:
  Ms. Zhang Lin – 240 – – 240

Independent non-executive 
  directors:
  Mr. Shi Xiaoyu (i) – – – – –
  Mr. Liu Peilian – 240 – – 240
  Mr. Dai Feng (iii) – 55 – – 55
  Mr. Zheng Ercheng (iii) – 185 – – 185

      

6,750 720 1,000 – 8,470
      

(i)	 Mr. Shi Xiaoyu waived his director’s fee for the years of 2016 and 2015.

(ii)	 Mr. Shi Xiaoyu resigned from the board on 22 April 2016 and Ms. Xue Hui was appointed as independent 
non-executive director of the Group on 22 April 2016.

(iii)	 Mr. Dai Feng resigned from the board on 24 March 2015 and Mr. Zheng Ercheng was appointed as the 
Group’s independent non-executive director on 24 March 2015.
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9.	 Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included three directors (2015: three directors), details of whose 
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2015: 
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Salaries and other emoluments 1,937 1,619
Discretionary bonuses – 700
Contributions to the retirement scheme 31 41
   

1,968 2,360
   

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the 
following bands is as follows:

Number of employees
2016 2015

   

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 1
   

2 2
   

During the year, no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest-
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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10.	 Income tax

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Current tax — Mainland China 23,070 –
Deferred income tax
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 24) 31,912 (454)
   

Total tax expense/(credit) for the year 54,982 (454)
   

(a)	 Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the 
Company and its subsidiary, Blue Gems Worldwide Limited, are not subject to any income tax in the 
Cayman Islands and BVI, respectively.

(b)	 PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) was provided at a rate of 25% (2015: 25%) on the taxable income as 
reported in the statutory accounts of the companies comprising the Group, which were prepared in 
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, as adjusted for income and expense items which 
are not assessable or deductible for income tax purposes.

(c)	 No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the financial statements as the Group had no 
assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 
2015.

(d)	 Reconciliation between income tax expenses/(credit) and profit/(loss) before taxation at applicable tax rate 
is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Profit/(loss) before taxation 193,088 (2,556)
   

Tax on profit/(loss) before taxation, calculated at the rates 
  applicable to the results in the jurisdictions concerned 52,570 (639)
Entities not subject to income tax 853 1,501
Effect of non-deductible expenses 407 2,224
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods 2,500 –
Effect of non-taxable income (1,348) (3,540)
   

Income tax expenses/(credit) 54,982 (454)
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11.	 Dividends

The board of directors does not declare any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

Details of a special dividend proposed subsequent to the year-end are given in note 35 to the financial 
statements.

12.	 Earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2016 is based on the profit for the 
year of RMB138,106,000 and the 8,430,000,000 shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 is based on the loss for the year of 
RMB2,102,000 and the 8,430,000,000 shares in issue during that year.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, and 
therefore, diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as the basic earnings/(loss) per share.

13.	 Investments in subsidiaries

Name of company

Place of 

incorporation 

and business

Particulars of issued 

and paid up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activities

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held 

by a 

subsidiary
       

Blue Gems Worldwide 

  Limited

The BVI United States dollars 

  (“USD”) 1

100% 100% – Investment holding

Kinetic (Asia) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars 

  (“HKD”) 229,330,000

100% – 100% Investment holding

Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er 

  Kinetic Coal Limited* 

  (內蒙古准格爾旗力量煤業

 有限公司)

Mainland China RMB901,858,400 100% – 100% Coal mining and sale

  of mineral products

Kinetic (Qinhuangdao) 

  Energy Co., Limited*

  (力量（秦皇島）能源

 有限公司)

Mainland China HKD132,983,000 100% – 100% Sale of mineral 

  products

Kinetic (Tianjin) 

  Coal Co., Limited*

  (力量（天津）煤炭貿易

 有限公司)

Mainland China – 100% – 100% Trading of mineral 

  products

*	 The entities are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises and their official names are in Chinese. The English translation of the entities’ names is 

for reference only.
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14.	 Property, plant and equipment

Machinery
and Motor Office Mining Construction

Buildings equipment vehicles equipment structures in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

31 December 2016

At 31 December 2015 and at 
  1 January 2016:
  Cost 366,069 559,541 4,045 6,457 517,706 50,096 1,503,914
  Accumulated depreciation (25,066) (129,353) (2,429) (2,439) (54,856) – (214,143)
        

  Net carrying amount 341,003 430,188 1,616 4,018 462,850 50,096 1,289,771
        

At 1 January 2016, net of 
  accumulated depreciation 341,003 430,188 1,616 4,018 462,850 50,096 1,289,771
Additions – 25,398 227 275 – 32,697 58,597
Disposals – – (10) – – – (10)
Depreciation provided during 
  the year (8,952) (77,412) (413) (972) (28,590) – (116,339)
Transfers 8,737 3,994 – – 49,116 (61,847) –
        

At 31 December 2016, net of 
  accumulated depreciation 340,788 382,168 1,420 3,321 483,376 20,946 1,232,019
        

At 31 December 2016:
  Cost 374,806 588,933 4,077 6,732 566,822 20,946 1,562,316
  Accumulated depreciation (34,018) (206,765) (2,657) (3,411) (83,446) – (330,297)
        

Net carrying amount 340,788 382,168 1,420 3,321 483,376 20,946 1,232,019
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14.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Machinery
and Motor Office Mining Construction

Buildings equipment vehicles equipment structures in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

31 December 2015

At 1 January 2015:
  Cost 360,186 569,109 3,830 5,049 515,676 17,595 1,471,445
  Accumulated depreciation (17,115) (79,893) (2,281) (1,655) (9,905) – (110,849)
        

  Net carrying amount 343,071 489,216 1,549 3,394 505,771 17,595 1,360,596
        

At 1 January 2015, net of 
  accumulated depreciation 343,071 489,216 1,549 3,394 505,771 17,595 1,360,596
Additions 9,566 – 543 1,408 1,536 46,131 59,184
Disposals (9,473) (16,146) (56) – – – (25,675)
Depreciation provided during 
  the year (8,719) (49,460) (420) (784) (44,951) – (104,334)
Transfers 6,558 6,578 – – 494 (13,630) –
        

At 31 December 2015, net of 
  accumulated depreciation 341,003 430,188 1,616 4,018 462,850 50,096 1,289,771
        

At 31 December 2015:
  Cost 366,069 559,541 4,045 6,457 517,706 50,096 1,503,914
  Accumulated depreciation (25,066) (129,353) (2,429) (2,439) (54,856) – (214,143)
        

  Net carrying amount 341,003 430,188 1,616 4,018 462,850 50,096 1,289,771
        

(a)	 The Group is in the process of applying for the title certificates of certain properties with a carrying value 
of RMB316,930,000 (2015: RMB331,007,000) as at 31 December 2016. The directors of the Company 
are of the opinion that the use of and the conduct of operating activities at the properties referred to 
above are not affected by the fact that the Group has not yet obtained the relevant property title 
certificates.

(b)	 As at 31 December 2016, no property, plant and equipment (2015: certain machinery and equipment and 
mining structures with carrying value of RMB592,878,000) was pledged to secure other borrowings (note 
23).
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15.	 Land lease prepayments

2016
Note RMB’000

   

Carrying amount at 1 January –
Additions 21,197
Recognised during the year 6 (353)
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 20,844
   

Non-current portion 20,844
   

16.	 Intangible assets

Mining rights
RMB’000

  

As at 1 January 2015 700,188
Amortisation (19,492)
  

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 680,696
Amortisation (13,604)
  

As at 31 December 2016 667,092
  

Mining rights with a carrying value of RMB667,092,000 (2015: RMB680,696,000) were pledged as security for 
the banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2016.
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17.	 Interest in an associate

The following list contains the particulars of an associate as at 31 December 2016, which is an unlisted 
corporate entity whose quoted market price is not applicable:

Percentage of

Particulars 
Place of
incorporation/

ownership
interest

Name
of issued 

shares held
registration
and business

attributable
to the Group Principal activities

     

Shenhua Zhunneng Xiaojia 
  Shayan Coal Storage and 
  Delivery Limited* (“Xiaojia”)

Registered Capital
RMB65,000,000

Mainland China 45% Coal storage, delivery and 
  handling

*	  The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The English translation of the entity’s name is for reference only.

Summarised financial information of the associate, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and
reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, is disclosed below:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Gross amounts of the associate

Current assets 23,360 56,559
Non-current assets 148,912 147,104
Current liabilities 49,570 92,948
Non-current liabilities – –
Equity 122,702 110,715

Revenue 50,019 80,039
Total comprehensive income 11,986 31,463

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in the associate

Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 122,702 110,715
Group’s effective interest 45% 45%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 55,216 49,822
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18.	 Inventories

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Coal products 22,788 4,888
Raw materials, accessories and chemicals 27,924 27,134
   

50,712 32,022
   

19.	 Trade and other receivables

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Trade debtors and bills receivable 13,990 16,837
Prepayments and deposits 18,082 23,000
Other receivables 18,267 9,415
   

50,339 49,252
   

An aged analysis of the trade debtors and bill receivable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within 6 months 13,990 16,837
   

Trade debtors and bills receivable are generally due within 30 to 180 days from the date of billing. Further 
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Trade debtors and bills receivable are not impaired.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable that are neither individually nor collectively considered 
to be impaired are as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Neither past due nor impaired 13,990 16,837
   

Trade debtors and bills receivable that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there 
was no recent history of default.
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19.	 Trade and other receivables (Cont’d)

None of the other assets above is either past due or impaired. These financial assets included in the above 
balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

20.	 Cash at bank and in hand and pledged deposits

(a)	 Cash at bank and in hand comprise:(a)	 Cash at bank and in hand comprise:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Cash and bank balances 85,742 92,011

Time deposits 25,101 5,102
   

110,843 97,113

Less:
  Pledged for bank loans (20,000) –
  Pledged to comply with government regulations (5,101) (5,102)
   

Cash and cash equivalents 85,742 92,011
   

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank balances of approximately RMB5,101,000 (2015: 
RMB5,102,000) were deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default as a mine safety 
production guarantee fund pursuant to the related government regulations.

As at 31 December 2016, RMB20,000,000 was deposited with a creditworthy bank with no recent history 
of default as guarantee fund to obtain bank loans for the Group’s daily operation (2015: nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi 
(“RMB”) amounted to RMB77,771,000 (2015: RMB79,523,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into 
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted 
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank 
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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20.	 Cash at bank and in hand and pledged deposits (Cont’d)

(b)	 Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to net cash flows generated from (b)	 Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to net cash flows generated from 
operations:operations:

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before taxation 193,088 (2,556)
    

Adjustments for:
  Depreciation 14 116,339 104,334
  Amortisation of intangible assets and 
    land lease prepayments 15,16 13,957 19,492
  Interest expenses 7 60,355 79,989
  Interest income 5 (287) (223)
  Share of profits of an associate 17 (5,394) (14,158)
  Gains on disposal of items of property,
    plant and equipment 5 (90) (768)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (18,690) 35,116
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (1,087) 22,078
Decrease in trade and other payables (73,744) (36,375)
Increase in pledged deposits (19,999) (26)
    

Cash generated from operations 264,448 206,903
    

Net cash flows from operating activities 264,448 206,903
    

21.	 Trade and other payables

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Other payables and accruals 54,150 87,650
Payables for construction 129,852 146,162
Amounts due to related parties (note 31) 17,793 41,478
   

201,795 275,290
   

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.
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21.	 Trade and other payables (Cont’d)

Payables for construction and amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing and have no fixed term of 
repayment.

An aged analysis of the payables for construction as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice 
date, is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within 1 year 38,021 56,087
1 to 2 years 34,603 16,410
Over 2 years 57,228 73,665
   

129,852 146,162
   

22.	 Bank loans

2016 2015
Effective 
interest 
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

Effective 
interest 
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

       

Current

Bank loans — unsecured 4.40 2017 404,000 6.31 2016 500,000
Bank loans — secured 4.57–5.66 2017 65,540 –
Current portion of long term bank loan 
  — secured 4.75 2017 110,000 –

  

579,540 500,000
  

Non-current

Bank loans — secured 4.75 2018 429,993 –
  

1,009,533 500,000
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22.	 Bank loans (Cont’d)

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Analysed into:

  Bank loans repayable:
    Within one year or on demand 579,540 500,000
    In the second year 429,993 –
   

1,009,533 500,000
   

Notes:

(a)	 Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i)	 the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to RMB20,000,000 (2015: nil);

(ii)	 the securities of Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited held by the Group; and

(iii)	 the mining rights of Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited.

In addition, the Company, Mr. Zhang Li and Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson have guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans up to 

RMB989,993,000 (2015: RMB500,000,000) as at the end of the reporting period.

(b)	 All the borrowings are denominated in RMB.

(c)	 Unsecured bank loans bear interest at 4.4% per annum, are repaid in January 2017.

(d)	 As part of the Group’s normal business, Kinetic (Tianjin) Coal Co., Limited and Kinetic (Qinhuangdao) Energy Co., Limited, two 

subsidiaries of the Group, issued bills payable to Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited, another subsidiary of the Group, in 

order to settle the trade payables. As at 31 December 2016, certain bills receivable of Inner Mongolia Zhunge’er Kinetic Coal Limited 

were discounted to a bank in Mainland China (the “Discounted Bills”) with a carrying amount of RMB404,000,000 (2015: nil). In the 

opinion of the directors, the Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include delay payment risks relating to the 

Discounted Bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying amount of the loans from Discounted Bills. The loans from 

Discounted Bills were guaranteed by the Company and Mr. Zhang Li.
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23.	 Other borrowings

The Group entered into certain sale and leaseback agreements with a financial institution during the year ended 
31 December 2015 in connection with certain machinery and equipment and mining structures of the Group 
for periods of one year. At the end of the respective lease periods, the Group had the option to purchase the 
leased machinery and equipment and mining structures at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. 
None of the leases included contingent rentals.

The substance of the above sale and leaseback arrangements was that the Group borrowed loans secured by 
the underlying machinery and equipment and mining structures with a carrying value of RMB592,878,000 as at 
31 December 2015 for periods of one year, and the arrangement was accounted for accordingly.

The other borrowings were fully repaid in 2016.

24.	 Deferred tax

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows:

Depreciation 
allowance 

in excess of Unrealised
Unused the related intergroup
tax loss depreciation Accruals profit Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Deferred tax assets arising from
At 1 January 2015 42,077 8,553 14,199 – 64,829
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 4,303 4,164 (10,135) 2,122 454
      

At 31 December 2015 46,380 12,717 4,064 2,122 65,283
      

At 1 January 2016 46,380 12,717 4,064 2,122 65,283
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (33,494) (1,020) (3,726) 6,328 (31,912)
      

At 31 December 2016 12,886 11,697 338 8,450 33,371
      

As of 31 December 2016, the Group had unused tax loss of RMB51,545,000 (2015: RMB185,520,000) that 
would expire at 31 December 2020, if not utilised. In view of the five-year profit forecast of the PRC subsidiaries 
of the Group, the directors believe it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the 
related tax benefit to be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is 
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate 
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For 
the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends 
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 
2008.
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24.	 Deferred tax (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2016 and 2015, there were no unremitted earnings that would be remitted outside of 
Mainland China and subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its 
shareholders.

25.	 Accrual for reclamation costs

The accrual for reclamation costs has been determined based on management’s best estimates. However, as the 
effect on the land from current mining activities becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the 
associated costs may be subject to change. The Company’s board of directors believes that the accrued 
reclamation obligations as at 31 December 2016 are adequate and appropriate. The accrual is necessarily based 
on estimates and therefore, the ultimate liability may exceed or be less than such estimates.

26.	 Share capital

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Authorised, issued and fully paid:
  8,430,000,000 (2015: 8,430,000,000) ordinary shares of USD0.001 each 54,293 54,293
   

27.	 Share premium

Under the Company Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the 
Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date 
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as 
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

28.	 Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 80 of the financial statements.

The nature and purpose of reserves are stated as follows:

(i)	 Other reserves(i)	 Other reserves

The other reserves of the Group represent the difference between (a) the nominal value of share capital of 
Blue Gem Worldwide Limited; and (b) the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange 
under the reorganisation of the Group on 20 July 2011.
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28.	 Reserves (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Statutory reserves(ii)	 Statutory reserves

Pursuant to the articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group, appropriations to the surplus 
reserve fund should be made at a certain percentage of profit after taxation determined in accordance 
with the accounting rules and regulations of the PRC, until the surplus reserve fund was equal to 50% of 
the entity’s registered capital. Appropriation was made accordingly for Kinetic (Tianjin) Coal Co., Limited 
and the rest of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group had accumulated losses as at 31 December 2016, and 
hence no appropriation was made accordingly.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations for coal mining companies, provision for production 
maintenance, production safety and other related expenditures are accrued by the Group at fixed rates 
based on the coal production volume (the “maintenance and production funds”). The maintenance and 
production funds are initially set aside as appropriations of profit attributable to owners of the Company 
and can be utilised when operating expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance and 
safety measures are incurred. The amount of maintenance and production funds utilised for such 
designated purpose would then be transferred from the statutory reserve back to retained earnings.

(iii)	 Exchange reserve(iii)	 Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set 
out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

29.	 Operating lease arrangements

As lesseeAs lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements. Lease for properties are 
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases falling due as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within one year 811 491
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 13 368
   

824 859
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30.	 Commitments

(a)	(a)	 In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 29 above, the Group had the following In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 29 above, the Group had the following 
capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Authorised and contracted for construction and 
  purchase of mining machinery 65,548 113,605
   

(b)	 Environmental contingencies(b)	 Environmental contingencies

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has not incurred any significant expenditure for environmental 
remediation and, apart from the accrual for reclamation costs (note 25), and has not accrued any amounts 
for environmental remediation relating to its operations. Under existing legislation, management believes 
that there are no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect on the financial position or 
operating results of the Group. Laws and regulations protecting the environment have generally become 
more stringent in recent years and could become more stringent in the future. Environmental liabilities are 
subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate cost of 
remediation efforts.

These uncertainties include:

(i)	 the exact nature and extent of the contamination at the mine and coal washing plant;

(ii)	 the extent of required cleanup efforts;

(iii)	 varying costs of alternative remediation strategies;

(iv)	 changes in environmental remediation requirements; and

(v)	 the identification of new remediation sites.

The amount of such future cost is indeterminable due to such factors like the unknown magnitude of 
possible contamination and the unknown timing and extent of the corrective actions that may be 
required. Accordingly, the outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed for future environmental 
legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at present but could be material.
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31.	 Related party transactions

(a)	 Financial guarantees(a)	 Financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s banking facilities totalling RMB700,000,000 (2015: 
RMB1,450,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Li and the Company.

(b)	 Loading service(b)	 Loading service

Xiaojia, an associate of the Group, provided loading service to the Group during the year ended 31 
December 2016. The transactions between the Group and Xiaojia were conducted in the ordinary and 
usual course of business. The pricing were determined with reference to the prevailing market prices. The 
service fee for the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB50,019,000 (2015: RMB80,039,000). As at 31 
December 2016, payable to Xiaojia was RMB13,784,000 (2015: RMB37,469,000).

(c)	 Outstanding balances with related parties(c)	 Outstanding balances with related parties

On 15 April 2013, the Group entered into a tenancy agreement with Beijing R&F City Real Estate 
Development Co., Ltd., which is controlled by Mr. Zhang Li, for lease of premises. The tenancy agreement 
was terminated on 31 March 2014. Rental payable as at 31 December 2016 was RMB4,009,000 (2015: 
RMB4,009,000).

(d)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:(d)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Short term employee benefits 14,054 11,714
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 156 109
   

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 14,210 11,823
   

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial 
statements.

(e)	 Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions(e)	 Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of the financial guarantees provided by Mr. Zhang Li as disclosed 
above constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules. However, those transactions are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules.
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32.	 Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are 
as follows:

20162016

Financial assets

Loans and 
receivables

RMB’000
  

Trade debtors and bills receivable 13,990
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables 18,267
Pledged deposits 25,101
Cash at bank and in hand 85,742
  

Total 143,100
  

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

RMB’000
  

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 25,900
Payables for construction 129,852
Amounts due to related parties 17,793
Bank loans 1,009,533
  

Total 1,183,078
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32.	 Financial instruments by category (Cont’d)

20152015

Financial assets

Loans and 
receivables

RMB’000
  

Trade debtors and bills receivable 16,837
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables 9,415
Pledged deposits 5,102
Cash at bank and in hand 92,011
  

Total 123,365
  

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

RMB’000
  

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 64,876
Bank loans 500,000
Payables for construction 146,162
Amounts due to related parties 41,478
Other borrowings 654,918
  

Total 1,407,434
  

33.	 Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying 
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Financial liabilities

Bank loans 1,009,533 500,000 990,034 500,000
     

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The 
following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and bank deposits, financial assets included in deposits and other receivables, trade 
debtors and bills receivable, amounts and due to related parties, financial liabilities included in other payables 
and accruals, payables for construction and the current-portion of interest-bearing bank loans and other 
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans have been calculated by discounting 
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and 
remaining maturities.
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33.	 Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments (Cont’d)

Fair value hierarchyFair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2016

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Bank loans – 990,034 – 990,034
     

As at 31 December 2015

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Bank loans – 500,000 – 500,000
     

34.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank loans, cash and bank deposits. The 
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, 
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, commodity price 
risk and liquidity risk. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any 
derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. The Group reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and 
they are summarised below.
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34.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Interest rate riskInterest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term 
debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation (through the impact on floating rate loans) 
and the Group’s equity.

Group

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points

Increase/
(decrease) in
profit/(loss) 

before taxation

Increase/
(decrease) in

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Year ended 31 December 2016 100 (5,515) (4,136)
(100) 5,515 4,136

Year ended 31 December 2015 100 (5,000) (3,750)
(100) 5,000 3,750

Credit riskCredit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise short-term bank and other deposits and 
other receivables arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for 
collateral.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade debtors and bills 
receivable are disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

Commodity price riskCommodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through fluctuations of the price of coal sold by the Group. The 
Group has accepted the exposure to commodity price risk and has not used forward contracts to eliminate the 
commodity price exposures on individual transactions.

Foreign currency riskForeign currency risk

The Company and its subsidiaries are not exposed to significant foreign currency exchange risk as their 
transactions and balances are substantially denominated in their respective functional currencies.
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34.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity riskLiquidity risk

The Group’s management reviews the liquidity position of the Group on an ongoing basis, including reviewing 
of the expected cash inflows and outflows, maturity of bank loans and other borrowings in order to monitor the 
Group’s liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. As described in note 2.1, as at 31 December 2016, 
the Group had net current liabilities and management has undertaken adequate measurements to maintain the 
Group’s liquidity.

At the end of the reporting period, financial obligations of the Group included trade and other payables, bank 
loans and other borrowings. The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s 
non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, which are based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computing using contractual rates) and the earliest date 
the Group can be required to pay:

As at 31 December 2016

Contractual
 undiscounted
cash outflow
within 1 year

or on demand

Contractual
undiscounted
cash outflow

2–3 years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash outflow

Carrying
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Bank loans 606,202 471,786 1,077,988 1,009,533
Financial liabilities included in other payables 
  and accruals 25,900 – 25,900 25,900
Payables for construction 129,852 – 129,852 129,852
Amounts due to related parties 17,793 – 17,793 17,793
     

779,747 471,786 1,251,533 1,183,078
     

As at 31 December 2015

Contractual 
undiscounted
cash outflow
within 1 year

or on demand
Carrying
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Other borrowings 676,078 654,918
Bank loans 516,726 500,000
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 64,876 64,876
Payables for construction 146,162 146,162
Amounts due to related parties 41,478 41,478
   

1,445,320 1,407,434
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34.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Capital managementCapital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ 
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is 
not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s cash at bank and in hand was mainly used in the 
development of the Group’s Dafanpu Coal Mine, to service the Group’s indebtedness and to fund the Group’s 
working capital. The Group financed its funding requirements mainly through a combination of interest-bearing 
bank loans and other borrowings and cash generated from operating activities. The Group monitors capital 
using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings less cash at bank and in hand. Capital is the total equity.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s outstanding balance of bank loans amounted to RMB1,009 million. The 
Group’s gearing ratio decreased from 55.7% as at 31 December 2015 to 48.4% as at 31 December 2016. The 
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Bank loans and other borrowings 1,009,533 1,154,918

Less: Cash at bank and in hand (85,742) (92,011)
   

Net debt 923,791 1,062,907
   

Total equity 983,791 845,352
   

Capital and net debt 1,907,582 1,908,259
   

Gearing ratio 48.4% 55.7%
   

35.	 Events after the reporting period

On 28 March 2017, the board of directors proposed to pay a special dividend of HKD0.02 per share from the 
share premium account, payable to shareholders of the Company. It is subject to the approval at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The dates for disclosure of register of members of the 
Company for ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to receive the proposed special dividend will be further 
announced. The total amount of the special dividend to be distributed is estimated to be approximately 
HKD168,600,000.



Annual Report 2016 127

31 December 2016

NOTES TO the consolidatedNOTES TO the consolidated
FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36.	 Statement of financial position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 190,275 190,275
   

Total non-current assets 190,275 190,275
   

CURRENT ASSETS
Due from a subsidiary 890,269 895,106
Cash at bank and in hand 2,134 2,417
   

Total current assets 892,403 897,523
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 2,240 –
   

Total current liabilities 2,240 –
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 890,163 897,523
   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,080,438 1,087,798
   

Net assets 1,080,438 1,087,798
   

EQUITY
Share capital 54,293 54,293
Reserves (note) 1,026,145 1,033,505
   

Total equity 1,080,438 1,087,798
   

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share Other Exchange Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 27) (note 28(i))

      

At 1 January 2015 907,627 141,831 1,163 (16,703) 1,033,918

Loss for the year – – – (511) (511)
Other comprehensive income – – 98 – 98
      

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – – 98 (511) (413)

At 31 December 2015 907,627 141,831 1,261 (17,214) 1,033,505
      

At 1 January 2016 907,627 141,831 1,261 (17,214) 1,033,505

Loss for the year – – – (6,274) (6,274)
Other comprehensive loss – – (1,086) – (1,086)
      

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (1,086) (6,274) (7,360)

At 31 December 2016 907,627 141,831 175 (23,488) 1,026,145
      

37.	 Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2017.
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Financial SummaryFinancial Summary

Results

Year ended
31 December

2016

Year ended
31 December

2015

Year ended
31 December

2014

Year ended
31 December

2013

Year ended
31 December

2012
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Revenue 1,051,457 1,176,041 840,290 126,671 31,677
      

Profit/(loss) before taxation 193,088 (2,556) 83,039 (200,403) (135,395)
Income tax (expenses)/credit (54,982) 454 (21,493) 45,825 19,390
      

(Loss)/profit for the year 138,106 (2,102) 61,546 (154,578) (116,005)

Other comprehensive income for 
  the year that may be reclassified
  subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of  
  financial statements of the operations 
  outside the PRC 333 855 109 (845) 877
      

Total comprehensive income 
  for the year 138,439 (1,247) 61,655 (155,423) (115,128)
      

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) 
  per share (RMB cent) 1.64 (0.02) 0.73 (1.83) (1.38)
      

Assets and Liabilities

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Non-current assets 2,008,542 2,099,293 2,163,823 2,131,546 1,873,946

Current assets 211,894 178,387 193,818 342,159 274,743
Current liabilities 804,405 1,430,208 1,509,042 1,178,679 537,543
      

Net current liabilities 592,511 1,251,821 1,315,224 836,520 262,800
      

Total assets less current liabilities 1,416,031 847,472 848,599 1,295,026 1,611,146
      

Non-current liabilities 432,240 2,120 2,000 510,082 670,779
      

Net assets 983,791 845,352 846,599 784,944 940,367
      

Total equity 983,791 845,352 846,599 784,944 940,367
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